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To be the leading charity 
for the advancement of 

lifelong health in
the community.

VISION

Promoting lifelong 
health, serving the 

community.

MISSION

We are 

HERE TO CARE 
for the health of seniors 

and the vulnerable in
the community.
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The COVID-19 pandemic has been a health and humanitarian 
crisis that has affected the lives of many people in Singapore 
and around the world. It has moved organisations to make 
decisions at a greatly accelerated pace and at heightened 
risk levels.

Our healthcare staff, especially the front-liners, were initially 
nervous and uncertain due to the constant, changing 
information on the outbreak and were managing it to the 
best of their abilities. There was no clear end in sight at that 
point in time. What was eventually clear however, was that 
the crisis could drag on for much longer than 2020 and we 
needed to act swiftly. Timely, critical decisions were needed 
and made by the Board and Management. We revisited 
and determined our core organisational competencies and 
made swift decisions on how we could leverage on those 
to continue to serve our beneficiaries while staying safe and 
remaining resilient in the face of a crisis. 

Key principles guided our critical decisions:

• Performance and Sustainability: We prioritised the  
 health of our beneficiaries and staff. Contingency plans  
 for manpower were put in place to ascertain operational  
 continuation and to ensure patients requiring care were  
 tended to across the various settings.

• Organisational Transformation: We aggressively sought  
 to adapt and transform ourselves to keep up with the  
 rapidly changing landscape. We moved quickly to  
 onboard digital solutions to support staff working  
 remotely and on the frontlines. 

• Governance and Compliance: We were exposed to  
 increased and rapidly evolving risks, while constantly  
 acting to mitigate such enterprise risks. Data privacy 
 and security was also paramount as more information  
 moved digitally.

The narrative from a turbulent 2020 is clear. A focused, 
decision-driven, and innovative charity can steer itself ably 
through the most uncertain of times. The pandemic has 
altered us, revealing new priorities, capabilities, and a new 
perspective. We remain optimistic in our outlook to rollout 
relevant, impactful healthcare services that will meet the 
needs of our beneficiaries. 

BOARD UPDATES
We wish to express our sincere appreciation to Ms 
Theresa Goh who has served as the Chairman of the SATA 
CommHealth Board since June 2017. Her leadership and 
invaluable contributions have been instrumental in the 
attainment of the Charity Governance Award in 2018 and 
the Charity Transparency Awards from 2016 to 2019. We 
also thank Ms Poh Mui Hoon, Mr Dumas Chin and Ms Fang 
Eu-Lin for their dedication and guidance during their term on 
the Board.

IN APPRECIATION
I wish to commend our staff and Board for their dedication 
and commitment amid the current COVID-19 outbreak. Each 
of them has played a role in our overall achievements. Last 
but certainly not least, a big thank you to all our community 
partners, volunteers, donors and beneficiaries for their 
continued trust and support for the vision and mission of 
SATA CommHealth.

Our actions in the past year have propelled us to start our 
journey towards our north star; to be a truly sustainable 
and impactful charity for the seniors and vulnerable in the 
community.

At SATA CommHealth, 2020 has served to underline our 
purpose; that we are here to care.

Mr Stanley Sia
Chairman

Timely, critical
decisions were needed 
and made by the Board 

and Management. We 
revisited and determined 

our core organisational 
competencies and made 

swift decisions on how 
we could leverage on 

those to continue to 
serve our beneficiaries 
while staying safe and 

remaining resilient in the 
face of a crisis.

MESSAGE FROM
THE CHAIRMAN

WE DID NOT LET A CRISIS 
GO TO WASTE; ADAPTING 
QUICKLY TO TRANSFORM 

OURSELVES.

WE MOVED QUICKLY TO 

ONBOARD DIGITAL
SOLUTIONS TO SUPPORT STAFF

WORKING REMOTELY AND 
ON THE FRONTLINES.
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ACHIEVEMENTS DURING 2020
Despite the rapidly evolving health and social care 
environment, our staff remained unwavering in their 
commitment to serve on the frontlines.

i. SATA CommHealth carried out more than
 99,000 episodes of subsidised care serving 
 more than 76,000 unique beneficiaries through
 our different services. 

ii. We raised about $624,000 to fund our charitable  
 programmes. 

iii. Our staff stepped up to the challenge to play a major role  
 in the prevention, detection, and treatment of COVID-19:

 • We served patients with acute respiratory symptoms  
  through our Public Health Preparedness Clinics (PHPC).

 • Conducted more than 34,000 COVID-19 tests for migrant  
  workers in their dormitories and work sites. 

 • Carried out more than 4,300 X-rays as part of COVID-19  
  screening measures for the public and migrant workers  
  at the Community Isolation Facility (CIF) at Singapore  
  Expo as well as other locations.

SATA CommHealth is both honoured and humbled to receive 
the Certificate of Appreciation from President Halimah Yacob. 
This certificate presented at the “President’s Volunteerism and 
Philanthropy Awards 2020 Special Edition – Our Finest Hour in 
the City of Good” is an acknowledgement of our contributions, 
during the COVID-19 pandemic.

TECHNOLOGY AND INNOVATIONS
Under the stewardship of the Digital Committee, SATA 
CommHealth has been actively engaged in IT and digital 
adoption, to increase productivity and efficiency in delivering 
quality care and services to our beneficiaries. One such 
initiative is the launch of Tele-Consultations with SATA 
CommHealth doctors through a virtual platform, which 
complements in-person visits to our medical centres.

The pandemic has accelerated SATA CommHealth’s push for 
digital adoption and precipitated greater acceptance of new 
technology by our beneficiaries. To minimise the disruption of 
essential services to our beneficiaries during the circuit breaker 
period, SATA CommHealth rolled out Tele-Rehabilitation. 
This initiative allowed our beneficiaries to continue receiving 
treatment in the safety and comfort of their homes, without 
compromising the care required to facilitate their recovery.

The year 2020 has been 
challenging indeed. 

Amid uncertainty, 
we have responded 

promptly and risen to the 
challenge of supporting 
national efforts against 

the COVID-19 pandemic.  
We continued serving 

seniors and the 
vulnerable in the 

community during this 
trying period.

MESSAGE FROM
THE CEO

COVID-19 FUND-RAISING CAMPAIGNS
Despite the challenges posed by the COVID-19 pandemic 
in early 2020, our fund-raising efforts have yielded an 
encouraging number of donors. These fund-raising initiatives 
will enable SATA CommHealth to reach out to assist more 
vulnerable families and seniors in the community in the years 
to come.

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT
Our engagement with community partners has demonstrated 
a continued need for greater support for the care of the seniors 
and vulnerable. Some of these programmes include frailty 
screening and community vaccinations. We will continue to 
engage our partners, develop meaningful programmes for our 
seniors and vulnerable and ensure that they age well and are 
served well in a community setting.

OUR PEOPLE
Our people are essential to the delivery of exceptional care to 
patients and in ensuring our sustainability over the long term. 
We continue to engage the staff, paying close attention to their 
mental health and general well-being.

As we embark on a new normal and prepare for the challenges 
that lie ahead, SATA CommHealth is extremely grateful for 
the valuable contributions from every one of our staff and 
stakeholders.

Dr Kelvin Phua
Chief Executive Officer

EPISODES OF
SUBSIDISED CARE 

FOR OUR
BENEFICIARIES

SATA COMMHEALTH CARRIED 
OUT MORE THAN 

99,000

76,000
SERVING

MORE THAN

UNIQUE BENEFICIARIES
THROUGH OUR 

DIFFERENT
SERVICES
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BOARD OF
DIRECTORS

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12

1. MR JOHN YONG TIONG HWEE
 Director

2. MR GANU SHAILESH ANAND
 Director

3. MS CHARLOTTE HSU YUH FENG
 Director

4. MR MICHAEL RICHARD BUCHHOLZ
 Director

5 DR EDWARD YANG TUCK LOONG
 Vice Chairman

6. MR STANLEY SIA SWIE KEAN
 Chairman

7 . A/PROF THEMIN SUWARDY
 Vice Chairman

8. A/PROF JASON YAP CHIN HUAT  
 Director

9. MR MATTHEW SAW SEANG KUAN
 Director

10 . MRS CHIA-TERN HUEY MIN
 Director

11. MR TAN BOON GIN
 Director

12. MS KAREN WEE SIEW LIN
 Director
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COMMITMENT TO
GOOD GOVERNANCE

In its commitment to practice the highest standards of governance when 
discharging its roles and responsibilities, the Board is guided by best practices in 
the corporate and voluntary sectors, especially those recommended by the Code of 
Governance for Charities and Institutions of a Public Character (“Code”).
The Board holds the view that good governance is key to 
ensuring the integrity and effectiveness of the organisation. 
The Board, management and staff must apply the principles 
of fairness, accountability and responsibility in all actions and 
remain transparent in reports to all stakeholders.

The Governance and Nominating Committee (GNC) continues 
to assist the Board to implement, review and develop SATA 
CommHealth’s corporate governance guidelines.

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS
For robust governance, the Board strives to ensure that there 
is sufficient range and diversity of expertise and viewpoints 
among the directors.

The Board uses a diversity matrix in its effort to ensure that 
directors, as a group, have core competencies in areas such 
as accounting, finance, legal, technology, public health, 
medical, marketing, fund-raising etc. In terms of gender 
diversity, Board ensures that no gender has less than 25% 

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

representation. The 12-member Board consisted of three 
female (25%) and seven male directors (75%) in FY2020.

All directors must be independent. Independence refers 
to not having any family, employment, business and other 
relationship with SATA CommHealth, or its officers that could 
interfere, or be reasonably perceived to interfere, with the 
exercise of the Board directors’ independent judgement 
to safeguard the best interests of SATA CommHealth. No 
director shall be related to another director by blood or 
marriage and no director is currently employed by SATA 
CommHealth. No staff are on the SATA CommHealth Board. 

The Chief Executive Officer (CEO) is an ex-officio and non-
voting member of the Board who attends all Board meetings 
unless otherwise directed by the Board. Other management 
staff are invited from time to time to attend and make 
presentations at Board meetings. 

The Board has a formalised process for the appointment/
re-appointment of Board directors and members of Board 
Committees. The election process of Board directors guides 

SATA CommHealth to think two terms ahead and succession 
discussions take place months before every Annual General 
Meeting. Potential Board directors are sourced through 
independent methods, Board recommendations and existing 
sub-committee members. GNC screens and conducts 
reference checks on interested candidates and makes its 
recommendations to the Board for approval. 

All directors submit themselves for re-nomination and re-
appointment every two years. 

Every director has a maximum term limit of eight years of 
continuous service on the Board; except that an additional 

two years extension is allowed for key appointment holders 
for reasons of continuity, subject to the recommendation by 
GNC and approval by Board. No Board director shall serve 
for more than ten consecutive years. In 2020, none of the 12 
directors served on the Board for more than 10 years. 

The Treasurer (Chairman of Investment & Finance Committee) 
has a term limit of four years. 

The composition of the Board, the profile of the directors and 
the number of Board meetings attended by each director are 
shown below.

MR STANLEY SIA SWIE KEAN
(AGE 49) 
Chairman

• B.Bus (Acc) 
• MBA (Finance) 
• Grad Dip (Tech-entrepreneurship)
• Fellow, CPA Australia

DR EDWARD YANG TUCK LOONG 
(AGE 63) 
Vice Chairman 

• MBBS – National University of Singapore
• DMRT London
• FRCR United Kingdom (Clinical Oncology)
• FAMS Academy of Medicine, Singapore

A/PROF THEMIN SUWARDY
(AGE 49) 
Vice Chairman 

• Fellow, ISCA
• Fellow, CPA Australia
• Fellow, ICMA
• Doctor of Philosophy, Bachelor of  
 Business (Accounting) (Hons), Bachelor 
 of Computing (Information Systems),  
 Monash University, Australia

MR MATTHEW SAW SEANG KUAN 
(AGE 49) 

• MA, University of Cambridge

MR MICHAEL RICHARD BUCHHOLZ 
(AGE 59) 

• Master of Arts in Communication  
 Management, University of South  
 Australia
• International Business Management 
 (Post Diploma) Certificate, Seneca  
 College
• Certificate of Studies, University of Oslo
• Bachelor of Arts in International Relations,  
 University of Western Ontario

• Managing Director, SC Ventures
 (Standard Chartered Bank)
• Member of the Singapore Divisional   
 Council of CPA Australia
• Member, Government Parliamentary  
 Committee Trade & Industry Resource  
 Panel

• Senior Consultant Radiation Oncologist,  
 Gleneagles and Mount Elizabeth Novena  
 Hospitals

• Associate Professor of Accounting  
 (Practice), Singapore Management  
 University
• Dean, Postgraduate Professional  
 Programmes, Singapore Management  
 University
• Member, GST Board of Review
• Board of Directors, GMAC

• Partner, Lee & Lee
• Adjudicator, Financial Industry Disputes  
 Resolution Centre Ltd
• Director, Healthserve Ltd

• Managing Director, Caldwell Richards
 Pte Ltd
• Lecturer, General Assembly
• Associate Lecturer, University of  
 Wollongong
• Member, Rules Committee, The American  
 Club, Singapore

28.06.2012

27.06.2013

26.06.2018

26.06.2014

18.06.2015

23.06.2020

20.06.2019

23.06.2020

23.06.2020

20.06.2019

7/7

7/7

7/7

6/7

7/7

QUALIFICATIONS
DATE FIRST
APPOINTED

DATE OF
LAST ELECTION
OF DIRECTOR

ATTENDANCE
AT BOARD

MEETINGS 2020
KEY DIRECTORSHIPS & APPOINTMENTS

ANNUAL REPORT 202008 HERE TO CARE FOR THE COMMUNITY 09



QUALIFICATIONS
DATE FIRST
APPOINTED

DATE OF
LAST ELECTION
OF DIRECTOR

ATTENDANCE
AT BOARD

MEETINGS 2020
KEY DIRECTORSHIPS & APPOINTMENTS QUALIFICATIONS

DATE FIRST
APPOINTED

DATE OF
LAST ELECTION
OF DIRECTOR

ATTENDANCE
AT BOARD

MEETINGS 2020
KEY DIRECTORSHIPS & APPOINTMENTS

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONT’D) COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONT’D) 

A/PROF JASON YAP CHIN HUAT 
(AGE 58)

• MBBS
• MMed(PH)
• FAMS
• FRSPH
• MBA(IS)
• MCS(ST)

MR TAN BOON GIN
(AGE 48)

• Bachelor / Master of Arts, Law, 1st class  
 honours, University of Cambridge, UK
• Master of Law, Harvard Law School,  
 USA

Note: Board of Directors
 Ms Theresa Goh, Ms Poh Mui Hoon, Ms Fang Eu-Lin and Mr Dumas Chin stepped down as Board Directors on 23 June 2020.
 Mrs Chia-Tern Huey Min, Ms Charlotte Hsu, Ms Karen Wee and Mr Tan Boon Gin joined as Board Directors on 23 June 2020.
 Ms Theresa Goh was appointed Board Advisor from 23 June 2020 to 22 June 2021.

MR JOHN YONG TIONG HWEE
(AGE 61)

• Master of Computer Science, University  
 of Salford, United Kingdom
• Senior Fellow of Singapore Computer  
 Society

MR GANU SHAILESH ANAND
(AGE 39) 

• Master of Business Administration,  
 University of Wollongong, Australia
• Bachelor of Engineering, Chemical  
 Engineering, MGM College of Engineering  
 and Technology, Mumbai University, India
• Fellow, Singapore Institute of Directors

MRS CHIA-TERN HUEY MIN 
(AGE 57) 

• BSc (Estate Management), 1st class  
 honours, NUS
• Master of Land Economy, University of  
 Aberdeen
• Programme in Management  
 Development, Harvard Business School
• Fellow, CPA Australia

MS CHARLOTTE HSU YUH FENG 
(AGE 51) 

• Certified Public Accountant (CPA), USA  
 and Australia
• Chartered Accountant (CA), Singapore
• Bachelor of Arts, Statistics and Japanese  
 Studies

MS KAREN WEE SIEW LIN
(AGE 46) 

• Chartered Marketer (in pursuant) & Fellow  
 of Chartered Institute of Marketing 
 (CMktr, FCIM)
• Chartered Accountant & Member, Institute  
 of Singapore Chartered Accountants
• Certified Internal Auditor, Institute of  
 Certified Internal Auditors, USA
• Bachelor of Accountancy (Hons), NTU  
 Singapore

• Associate Professor, Vice Dean and  
 Director (Public Health Translation), Saw  
 Swee Hock School of Public Health, NUS
• Programme Director, National Preventive  
 Medicine Residency Programme, NUHS

• Chief Executive Officer, Singapore  
 Exchange Regulation

• Member, Tech Advisory Panel, Singapore  
 Pools
• Senior Fellow, Singapore Computer  
 Society (SCS)
• Adjunct, National University Singapore,  
 (NUS)
• Adjunct, Singapore Institute of  
 Technology (SIT)

• Managing Director (Executive  
 Compensation & Governance, Talents &  
 Rewards), Willis Towers Watson
• Fellow and committee member,  
 Singapore Institute of Directors (SID)
• Non-Executive Director, Far East Orchard

• Deputy Commissioner of International,  
 Investigation and Indirect Taxes Group of  
 IRAS
• Singapore’s representative to the OECD/ 
 Inclusive Framework on BEPs and its  
 Steering Group, as well as the Global  
 Forum for Transparency and Information  
 Exchange. Chair of Peer Review Group of  
 the Global Forum.
• Member, Industry Advisory Committee of  
 the Singapore Institute of Technology
• Member, Advisory Council for Gender  
 Balance Network of the OECD/Forum of  
 Tax Administration

• Partner, PwC Singapore
• Corporate Responsibility Leader & Asia  
 Pacific Diversity & Inclusion Leader, PwC  
 Singapore
• Treasurer, MCST 1930 

• Deputy Executive Director, Lions  
 Befrienders Service Association
• Board member, Vital Strategies  
 (Singapore)

23.06.2016 23.06.2020

20.06.2019

25.07.2019

23.06.2020

23.06.2020

23.06.2020

23.06.2020 23.06.2020

20.06.2019

25.07.2019

23.06.2020

23.06.2020

23.06.2020

5/7 3/3

6/7

7/7

3/3

3/3

3/3

ROLE OF THE BOARD
The Board’s primary role is to provide strategic direction to SATA CommHealth and monitor the management’s performance. It 
ensures that such resources are effectively and efficiently managed and that there are processes in place to ensure that SATA 
CommHealth complies with all applicable laws, rules, and regulations, particularly our Constitution (amended up to 31 January 
2019) and the Code. 

At the annual Board Retreat in 2020, the Board agreed on a clear vision, identified the challenges to realising this vision and 
established a broad strategic framework and critical goals that will progress the organisation towards achieving its vision 
over the next three years. During this discussion, the Board also agreed on a singular purpose of the organisation and the 
communication messages needed in its engagement with key stakeholders, clients, and members of the public. These were 
summarised into a 1-3-5-7 roadmap. The elements in this roadmap are:

The Board ensures that the management has clear goals and objectives, which are tracked through a balanced scorecard (BSC) 
with Key Performance Indicators (KPIs), and impact measurements for the CEO. These goals are cascaded to staff levels and 
the progress of these key goals is discussed at every Board meeting.

The day-to-day management of SATA CommHealth is delegated by the Board to the management headed by the CEO. Initiation 
of new activities, review or cessation of existing activities, major collaborations and significant transactions require the approval 
of the Board. 

The Board also reviews and approves the annual budget prepared by the management.

ONE PURPOSE

THREE MOUNTAINS TO OVERCOME

FIVE ASPIRATIONS

SEVEN GOALS

Here to Care for the Health of Seniors and Vulnerable in the community.

Performance & Sustainability, Transformation & Branding, 
and Governance & Compliance

Sustainability, Adapt, Thrive, Advocacy, Charity Branding (SATA-C)

Serve the Community, Sustainable Business Model, Raise 
Funds, Improve the Organisational Culture, Drive Innovation, 

Excellence in Governance and be a Leading Charity
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DIRECTORS’ DUTIES AND 
RESPONSIBILITIES
Directors are expected to be aware of their duties, 
demonstrate commitment in serving the organisation, and 
discharge their responsibilities with the highest standards of 
integrity. 

To provide guidance and clarity, the Board has adopted 
a Code of Conduct which all members have formally 
acknowledged. Directors are expected to use their best 
endeavors to attend at least 60% of Board meetings and to 
contribute constructively to Board discussions. In situations 
where directors were unable to attend meetings, they 
participated in decision-making through other means such as 
electronic communications, or otherwise assisted the Board 
and management outside of Board meetings.

The GNC reviews the contributions of directors holistically 
whilst recommending them for re-appointment.

Directors are expected to declare their interests to avoid any 
actual or perceived conflict of interest. Where directors have 
personal interests in transactions or contracts that SATA 
CommHealth may enter into or have vested interests in other 
organisations that SATA CommHealth has dealings with or is 
considering to enter into joint ventures with, they are expected 
to declare such interests to the Board as soon as possible and 
abstain from discussions and decision making on the matter. 
When such conflicts arise, the Board would evaluate whether 
any potential conflicts of interest would affect the continuing 
independence of directors and whether it is appropriate for 
the director to continue to remain on the Board. Directors also 
declare if they are affiliated to any staff of SATA CommHealth. 

BOARD MEETINGS
A total of seven Board meetings and one Annual General 
Meeting (AGM) in the financial year ended 31 December 2020, 
as shown below:

Board meetings: 13 Feb 2020 
 30 Mar 2020 
 23 Apr 2020 
 11 May 2020 
 23 Jun 2020 
 15 Aug 2020 
 19 Nov 2020

AGM: 23 Jun 2020

As necessary, the Board may hold additional meetings. The 
Board and CEO also participated in the annual retreat for 
strategic review on 15 Aug 2020.

APPOINTMENT, INDUCTION AND TRAINING
Upon appointment, all new directors attend an induction 
session conducted by the management. This gives them 
a good overview of the organisation’s programmes and 
services and their social impact on the community. A copy 
of the Handbook for Directors, which details roles and 
responsibilities, is also provided to new directors. 

Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training as 
needed so that they have sufficient knowledge relating to 
their responsibilities as directors. Directors may claim the 
training expenses if these expenses are pre-approved by the 
Board Chairman, and in the case of expenses to be incurred 
by the Board Chairman, by the GNC Chairman. In 2020, 
various directors attended modules/conferences in areas 
such as corporate governance, board diversity, audit, talent & 
volunteer management etc.

INFORMATION FOR THE BOARD
Management provides the Board with information considered 
necessary by the Board in discharging its responsibilities. 
This information includes background and other explanatory 
information relating to matters brought before the Board, 
annual reports, budgets, and quarterly management reports. 
Material variances between actual results and budgets/past 
results are highlighted during this process. 

The Board also proactively considers the types and 
presentation of information which best helps in discharging its 
responsibilities. Additional information may be requested from 
the management as and when the need arises.

BOARD EVALUATION
The Board implemented the annual Board Evaluation exercise 
to actively examine board performance and to find ways 
to improve its effectiveness. All Board directors are given 
the opportunity to provide their feedback on collective 
performance, self and peer performance and feedback to 
Chairman. GNC reviews the results and where necessary, 
discusses interventions and makes recommendations to 
Board. 

COMPOSITION AND MEETINGS OF
BOARD COMMITTEES
Board committees are established to assist the Board in 
making better decisions and improve its oversight over 
management and its accountability to stakeholders. All Board 
committees have written Terms of Reference (TOR) which 
were approved by the Board. 

COMMITTEE NAME DESIGNATION
NUMBER OF
MEETINGS
ATTENDED

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD COMMITTEES

AUDIT & RISK

DIGITAL

FUND-RAISING AND
ADVOCACY

GOVERNANCE AND
NOMINATING

HUMAN RESOURCES

2/2
1/1
1/1
2/2
1/1
1/1
1/1
1/1

7/9
7/7
7/7
6/7
8/9
7/7
7/9
2/2
1/2
2/2

5/5
2/2
7/7
6/7
4/5
4/5
4/5
3/3

4/4
4/4
2/2
3/4
2/2
2/2
2/2

3/3
2/2
1/2
3/3
3/3
1/1
1/1

Ms Charlotte Hsu
Ms Fang Eu-Lin
Mr Ang Hao Yao
Ms Cyndi Pei
Mr Stanley Sia
Dr Edward Yang
Mr Tan Boon Gin
Ms Jenny Tan

Mr John Yong
Ms Poh Mui Hoon
Mr Michael Buchholz
A/Prof Jason Yap
Mr Chua Teck Joo 
Ms Jenny Tan
Dr Joseph Mocanu
Dr Lee Yeong Shyan
Mr Shailesh Ganu
A/Prof Themin Suwardy

Mr Stanley Sia 
Mr John Yong
Ms Karen Wee
Ms Suryahti Abdul Latiff
Mr Ang Hao Yao
Mr Michael Buchholz
Mr Melvin Yong
Ms Tan Bin Ru

Mr Matthew Saw
Mr Stanley Sia
Ms Theresa Goh
Mr Ang Hao Yao
Dr Edward Yang
Mr Tan Boon Gin
A/Prof Themin Suwardy

Mr Shailesh Ganu
Mr Dumas Chin
Ms Theresa Goh
Mr Leonard Lee
Mr Michael Buchholz
Dr Edward Yang
Mr Robert Chong

Chairman (since Jun 2020)
Chairman (till Jun 2020)
Member (till Jul 2020)
Member 
Member (till Jul 2020)
Member (since Jul 2020)
Member (since Jul 2020)
Member (since Jul 2020)

Chairman (since Jun 2020)
Chairman (till Jun 2020)
Member (till Jul 2020)
Member (till Jul 2020)
Member 
Member (till Jul 2020)
Member
Member (since Jul 2020)
Member (since Jul 2020)
Member (since Jul 2020)

Chairman (since Jun 2020)
Chairman (till Jun 2020)
Member 
Member
Member (since Jul 2020)
Member (since Jul 2020)
Member (since Jul 2020)
Member (since Aug 2020)

Chairman (since Jun 2020)
Chairman (till Jun 2020)
Member (till Jun 2020)
Member
Member (till Jul 2020)
Member (since Jul 2020)
Member (since Jul 2020)

Chairman (since Jan 2020)
Member (till Jun 2020)
Member (till Jun 2020)
Member 
Member 
Member (since Jul 2020)
Member (since Sep 2020)

Chairmen of all Board committees must be a Board 
director and appointed by the Board. Chairmen of Board 
committees review the composition of the committee and 
recommend new potential members to GNC and Board for 
recommendation and approval, respectively.

Authority delegated to any Board committee is made clear 
in the TOR of the Board committee. The CEO is an ex-officio 
member of the Board of Directors.

Minutes of Board committee meetings are provided to the 
Board. The table below shows the Board committees, their 
composition and members’ attendance in 2020.
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COMMITTEE NAME DESIGNATION
NUMBER OF
MEETINGS
ATTENDED

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD COMMITTEES (CONT’D)

PROGRAMMES, 
SERVICES & MEDICAL

TENDER

3/3
3/3
2/2
2/2
3/3
3/3
3/3
2/3
3/3

Tender 
matters were 

circulated
for the 

Committee’s 
approval

Dr Edward Yang
A/Prof Jason Yap
Dr Lee Yeong Shyan
Dr Ian Leong
Dr Wei Ker-Chiah
Dr Lee Jer En
Mr Lau Wing Chew
Dr Serene Wong
Ms Karen Wee

Mr Matthew Saw
Dr Edward Yang
Ms Poh Mui Hoon
Mr Ang Hao Yao
Mr Michael Buchholz
A/P Jason Yap 

Chairman (since Apr 2020)
Member 
Member (till Jul 2020)
Member 
Member 
Member 
Member (since Apr 2020)
Member (since Apr 2020)
Member (since Apr 2020)

Chairman (since Jun 2020)
Chairman (till Jun 2020)
Member (till Jun 2020)
Member (till Jul 2020)
Member
Member (since Jul 2020)

INVESTMENT AND
FINANCE

5/5
4/5
2/3
4/5
1/3
2/2
1/2
2/2

A/Prof Themin Suwardy
Mr Ang Hao Yao
Mr Dumas Chin
Mr Steven Seow
Dr Edward Yang
Ms Tern Huey Min
Mr John Yong
Mr Matthew Tham

Chairman 
Member
Member (till Jun 2020)
Member 
Member (till Jul 2020)
Member (since Jul 2020)
Member (since Jul 2020)
Member (since Jul 2020)

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY
SATA CommHealth has a whistleblowing policy to allow 
staff and other stakeholders to raise concerns or to report 
malpractices and misconducts in the company. The policy 
aims to encourage the reporting of such matters in good faith, 
with the confidence that persons making such report will be 
treated fairly and with due follow-up action. All whistleblowing 
reports, including the identity of the whistleblower will be 
treated with confidentiality.   

The Board Chairman and/or the Chairman of the 
Governance and Nominating Committee (GNC) are informed 
of any whistleblowing report received. GNC oversees 
any investigation to be undertaken, unless (where the 
circumstances allow) the Board Chairman decides that 
another committee or party be tasked to oversee the 
investigation. The Board is kept informed of any investigation 
and approves any action to be taken in response to the 
complaint as soon as it is reasonably practicable. One 
whistleblowing report was received in 2020.

The email addresses of the Chairman of the Board, GNC, 
Audit and Risk Committee as well as the internal auditors are 
listed on the company website. 

RISK MANAGEMENT
The Board has the responsibility of effectively overseeing the 
organisation’s enterprise risk management (ERM) framework 
implemented in Q4 2019 that it balances risks yet does 
not limit growth, performance, and reputation. The Board 
reviews the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the internal 
control systems, including strategic, operational, financial, 
technological and compliance risks through our eight Board 
committees. This ensures potential risks are identified and 
managed effectively. 

The Audit and Risk Committee (AC) drives the risk 
assessment process, and all committees highlight risks on a 
regular basis. For risks that are deemed substantial, a task 
force will be set up to closely monitor and manage the risk. 
This allows for full accountability and reporting of risks and 
its mitigation measures. New strategic projects and initiatives 
undergo a risk assessment, using scenario analysis and 
simulation techniques that must be pre-approved by the 
Programmes, Services & Medical Committee (PSMC) before it 
is reported to the Board for approval. 

Internal and statutory audits are conducted annually by 
external auditors. These audits highlight potential risks and 
are discussed at the ARC and Board levels. In addition, 
compliance audits arranged by MOH were arranged on 
certain specific areas. Internally, checks and audits are also 
conducted by the Quality Department to ensure that expected 
quality and safety standards are met.

The ERM framework also clearly defines structure, roles and 
responsibilities for the operationalisation and the oversight 
of associated risks. The roles and responsibilities are clearly 
outlined so that all members know their scope and roles in the 
overall risk management framework.

A. BOARD & AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE (ARC)
The Board assisted by the ARC provides overall guidance, 
insights, and advice on all ERM matters. The ERM Framework 
is validated by the ARC and the Board to set the tone right 
at the top and is reviewed on a periodic basis to ensure 
continued relevance to SATA CommHealth. 

B. SENIOR MANAGEMENT LED BY CEO
They provide guidance and direction on ERM and are 
responsible for compliance to the ERM policy and framework. 
They instill the right culture throughout SATA CommHealth 
for effective risk governance. Senior Management also 
ensures that relevant risks are properly identified, assessed, 
monitored, and controlled by applying the appropriate 
mitigating measures. Management periodically updates on the 
ERM status to the ARC, relevant Board committees and the 
Board.

SUSTAINABILITY
SATA CommHealth is committed to sustainability and 
incorporates the key principles of environment, social and 
governance (ESG) in setting our practices and operations for 
long-term growth and financial sustainability.

SUSTAINABLE INVESTMENT:
SATA CommHealth seeks to integrate ESG (Environmental, 
Social and Governance) factors into its investment strategies 
and mandate. It is an essential part of SATA’s long-term and 
holistic approach to sustainability in its investment strategy, 
risk management and corporate culture and processes. 

The investment strategies take into consideration 
environmental, social and governance (ESG) factors and 
exclude investment in companies or strategies not compliant 
with international treaties on controversial weapons, or 
that exhibit weaknesses in their business conduct such as 
breaches of the United Nations Global Compact Principles 
(UNGC). We will also exclude investment in companies or 
strategies involved in substantial business activities regarded 
as having negative impact on society or the environment such 
as tobacco, gambling, adult entertainment, thermal coal, 
conventional weapons and civil firearms and nuclear weapons 
support systems.

We seek to have a higher proportion of the investment 
portfolio that has good ESG ratings and support various 
Sustainability Development Goals (SDGs) such as good health 
and well-being, food security, renewable energy, clean water 
and sanitation and climate change adaptation. 

ENVIRONMENT: 
Our sustainability efforts were upended in 2020 due to the 
circuit breaker and the subsequent restrictions on the migrant 
workforce. We had plans to conduct a feasibility study on 
the use of solar panels on our SATA CommHealth Building 
to generate electricity for our needs and to lower our carbon 

footprint but due to the pandemic and the pivoting of our 
focus to combating the spread of Covid-19, this initiative has 
been delayed. However, it is set to resume in 2021. What we 
have done instead is to ensure that our cleaning products and 
consumables are environmentally friendly and to reduce our 
power and water consumption through installing more energy 
and water saving devices.

We will play our part to better reduce carbon footprint and 
promote sustainability by being more efficient and adopting 
new practices and technology such as going paperless. 
Having already initiated paperless billing, our next step is to 
implement paperless medical reports, expense and payroll 
related claims and other internal processes. It is encouraging 
to note that we had a 45% reduction in the consumption of 
papers in year 2020.

More trees including fruit trees will be planted around the 
building at Chai Chee to play our part in contributing to the 
carbon eco systems. This is in addition to our joint project 
we have with our tenant Econ Nursing Home in maintaining a 
Green Plot to grow vegetables organically.

To encourage behavioural change and create change 
awareness, we will be joining the global Earth Hour movement 
next year and will turn off all non-essential lights for one hour 
at some of our premises. Staff are encouraged to switch off 
their lights when they are out for lunch. We will encourage 
staff to participate in community clean-up projects.

SOCIAL:
We are committed to Staff Development. We promote health 
and safety at work and encourage staff training through a 
multitude of programmes and activities. SATA CommHealth 
also encourages diversity in its workforce regardless of 
ethnicity, age, or gender in an open work environment. We 
adopt consistent, equitable and fair labour practices in 
rewarding and developing our staff.

We value our family of staff and focus on their well-being and 
happiness. In order to implement a balanced, sustainable 
and effective wellbeing program, we seek to understand 
our staff from a holistic perspective. A company-wide well-
being survey was sent. The feedbacks captured and insights 
collected from the surveys would be used to better plan our 
wellbeing program and what it would contain. It will be a 
program based on staffs’ feedbacks.

We continuously encourage our staff to participate in the 
wellbeing programs and make suggestions for any other 
improvements. A formal staff suggestion programme would 
be developed and implemented.

GOVERNANCE:
Our governance practices are based on integrity, fairness, 
transparency, and responsibilities. When it comes to good 
governance, SATA CommHealth has shown the way and won 
the Charity Governance Award in 2018. This award represents 
the highest honors for Charities in terms of governance. 

SATA CommHealth corporate compliance system comprises a 
comprehensive system of measures to ensure its operations is 
always carried in full accordance with the law as well as with 
its internal principles and rules.

ANNUAL REPORT 202014 HERE TO CARE FOR THE COMMUNITY 15



REPORTS OF BOARD COMMITTEES
GOVERNANCE AND NOMINATING COMMITTEE
The Governance and Nominating Committee (GNC) assists 
the Board in fulfilling the Board’s responsibilities for corporate 
governance (including compliance with relevant corporate 
governance requirements prescribed by regulators and with 
SATA CommHealth’s Corporate Governance Guidelines).

In assisting the Board, the committee’s tasks include:

(i) To review, evaluate and recommend any needed changes  
 to existing policies and procedures for compliance with  
 the Code of Governance for Charities and IPCs;

(ii) To have oversight of SATA CommHealth’s Whistleblower  
 and Conflict of Interest policies;

(iii) To determine annually the independence of the Directors,  
 bearing in mind the circumstances set forth in SATA  
 CommHealth’s Corporate Governance Guidelines;

(iv) To make recommendations to the Board on all Board  
 appointments having regard to the Directors’ contributions  
 and performance;

(v) To identify potential new Directors to fill any gaps in skills  
 and knowledge;

(vi) To have oversight and make recommendations on  
 Chairman’s succession process.

In 2020, the committee met four times. The GNC continued 
to oversee Board Evaluation in 2020 and reviewed the 
Governance Evaluation Checklist (GEC) for the Board’s 
approval prior to submission to the Charities Council. GEC 
gives the Board the opportunity to conduct an annual review 
of the governance practices of the organisation and to ensure 
adequacy and continued compliance with the Code.

AUDIT & RISK COMMITTEE
The Audit & Risk Committee (ARC) is responsible for 
reviewing the scope and work of the internal auditor and 
the statutory auditor as well as the adequacy of internal 
controls. The committee is also tasked with the evaluation 
of recommendations made by the internal auditor and 
management responses. The ARC also provides input to the 
Board on its assessment of enterprise risks and determination 
of risk appetite as part of the overall strategy for SATA 
CommHealth. It assists the Board in its oversight of the 
risk management framework, monitoring its effectiveness 
through functional implementation of “line of defence” and its 
performance against mitigating risks.

Ernst & Young Advisory Pte. Ltd. continued to carry out the 
internal audit work till June 2020. The driving objectives of the 
internal audit programme are to strengthen internal controls 
and financial management as well as to improve overall 
operational efficiency and productivity. To achieve these 
objectives, the Committee worked closely with the internal 
auditor and management to implement the recommendations 
of the internal auditor. The internal auditor applied a risk-
focused and process based approach for the audits.

The internal audit work done during 2020 covered the 
following areas:

•   Revenue, accounts receivables, and collections

•   Treasury and Cash Management
• Fixed Asset Management
• Patient Administration Services (two of the medical  
 centres)
•   Donations and Fund-raising
•   Management of beneficiaries and episodes count
•   Cyber Hygiene, Network and Infrastructure

KPMG LLP was appointed as the statutory auditor for SATA 
CommHealth. The general approach and overall scope of the 
statutory audit was laid down in an audit planning document 
which was approved by the ARC before conducting the audit 
in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. We have 
adopted the policy of changing either the internal/statutory 
auditor or the audit partner in-charge every five years. 
Recommendations by the statutory auditor on improvement 
of system processes and controls are discussed and reviewed 
by the Committee. 

The committee met twice in the year 2020 to review the 
reports of the internal auditor, statutory auditor and the 
adoption and implementation of enhancements to the internal 
control systems and processes that were recommended by 
the internal and statutory auditors. 

The ARC also reviewed the annual financial report to ensure 
the integrity of financial statements of the company and 
formal announcements relating to the company’s financial 
performance, in view of the latest developments in the areas 
of business ethics, corporate responsibilities and business 
continuity planning.

INVESTMENT AND FINANCE COMMITTEE
The Investment and Finance Committee (IFC) is responsible 
for overseeing the performance of the Fund Manager, and 
reviewing SATA CommHealth’s financial performance and 
annual budget. The committee met five times in 2020 and 
reviewed the investment performance of the fund manager, 
financial performance and annual budget of the organisation. 
The IFC also reviewed the Reserve Policy, the level of reserves 
and disclosure in Annual Report and financial statements. 

Credit Suisse has been managing SATA CommHealth’s 
investment portfolio since April 2011. As the agreement 
expired on 31 March 2020, a request for proposal was 
called. Following a thorough evaluation and review of the 
various service providers, Credit Suisse was reappointed 
for another three years from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2023) 

under an Investment Management Agreement (“IMA”), the 
IMA incorporates the Investment Policy Statement (“IPS”). 
The IPS lays out SATA CommHealth’s investment objectives, 
strategies, asset allocation plans, allowable and prohibited 
transactions, as well as reporting and oversight procedures.

The IPS assists the Board, IFC and Management to make 
investment related decisions in an accountable and prudent 
manner. The key investment objectives of the fund are 
capital preservation with long-term stable growth, achieve 
good returns with a prudent level of risk. In addition, our 
key investment strategy is to have a reasonable exposure 
to a wide range of investment opportunities in various asset 
classes, to achieve adequate diversification for the desired 
returns. 

SATA CommHealth’s portfolio return for 2020 was 10.1% 
net of management fee and trading fees. The investment 
returns for the year was $4.47 million. Since the inception of 
the current Investment Management Agreement with Credit 
Suisse, the cumulative return on investment was 48.81% or 
annualised return of 4.20%. SATA CommHealth withdrew $4 
million for operational needs during the year. The portfolio 
value increased from $49.1 million at the end of 2019 to $49.6 
million at end of 2020.

The IFC gave advice and guidance to the Board and 
management on finance and investment activities which 
include: Reserves, Financial Performance, New Projects 
Finance, Authorisation Limits, Standard Operating 
Procedures, Financial Reporting, Annual Budget, and Renewal 
of Investment Management Agreement (IMA) and other related 
matters.

PROGRAMME, SERVICES & MEDICAL COMMITTEE
The Programmes, Services and Medical Committee (PSMC) 
was set up to provide advice to the SATA CommHealth 
Management and Board on community programmes, social 
services, medical practice, clinical standards, ethics, medico-
legal and medico-social issues relevant to the organisation. 
The committee also advises management and the board on 
all social, community and medical aspects of operations, 
business development and strategies for growth of SATA 
CommHealth including collaborations with external parties 
including governmental bodies, other social enterprises, and 
private entities relevant to SATA CommHealth’s development.

In 2020, the committee helped management and the medical 
and operations teams with the workflows and protocols 
related to the pandemic as well as the projects SATA 
CommHealth was involved in, including the medical posts 
in the migrant worker dormitories, as well as the mass nasal 
swabbing projects and mobile X-ray provisions at the isolation 
facilities.

Going forward, the committee will continue to rigorously 
evaluate our community programmes including Doctors-
on-wheels, Homecare and Community Hub services aiming 
to reach out to even more beneficiaries. The committee 
will also continue to assess the overall social impact of 
these programmes as well as the cost effectiveness in the 
delivery of these services. Clinical quality and governance 
will be monitored by means of reports and scheduled PSMC 

meetings, to ensure that both policies and procedures are 
in place to provide the highest standards of patient care. 
The PSMC will also be informed of clinical service standards 
based on feedback received from patients. With the 
subsequent relaxation of face-to-face meetings, we hope to 
engage our medical doctors and senior clinic managers and 
chief paramedical services. 

The PSMC held three meetings in the year and smaller 
meetings with selected members to deal with issues of lapses 
in service standards encountered and recommendations of 
preventative measures.

TENDER COMMITTEE
The Tender Committee (TC) has an oversight responsibility 
over the tendering process in SATA CommHealth. It also 
provides advice to the Board on tender policies and 
procedures to ensure the transparency, fairness, and timelines 
of the tender process. The Committee also assists to identify 
key tender risks and suggests ways to mitigate these risks. In 
2020, one tender was approved by the TC.

DIGITAL COMMITTEE
The role of the Digital Committee (DC) is to provide 
the leadership and oversight in Information and Digital 
Technologies to ensure continued growth consistent with 
SATA CommHealth’s vision and mission. Besides digital 
strategy planning, the Digital Committee provides guidance 
on IT system enhancement, expert advice on cybersecurity 
measures and identifies new digital transformation initiatives. 
The committee held nine meetings in 2020.

The year 2020 had been a challenging year due to COVID-19 
pandemic. Despite this, the DC has been meeting remotely to 
continue providing valuable support to the Management team. 

FUND-RAISING AND ADVOCACY COMMITTEE
SATA CommHealth is an approved Institution of a Public 
Character (IPC). The Fund-raising and Advocacy Committee 
(FRAC) was incorporated to provide expertise and oversight 
to ensure that SATA CommHealth is supported for continued 
growth, consistent with the organisation’s vision and mission. 

Besides providing the necessary governance over the 
direction and ongoing progress of SATA CommHealth’s 
fund-raising strategy in full compliance with IPC regulations, 
the FRAC also set strategic directions for branding, donor 
& volunteer engagement, governance, and communication 
activities. 

In 2019 when SATA CommHealth was reinstated as an IPC 
charity and when we started our fund-raising activities, the 
Fund-raising and Advocacy Committee felt that it is important 
for the organisation to increase our brand visibility and 
programmes to the public. Over the past one year in 2020, 
Fund-raising and Advocacy Committee and management 
actively promoted SATA CommHealth as an impactful charity 
through the social media, newspaper write-ups, television, 
and radio interviews, to evoke greater public awareness for 
our cause.
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HUMAN RESOURCES COMMITTEE 
The Human Resource Committee (HRC) oversees 
Management‘s activities on Strategic Human Resources 
and People Matters such as Talent Management, Learning 
and Development, Rewards and Performance Management, 
Human Resource policies and procedures, and other related 
issues. 

The HRC held three meetings in 2020. Some significant HR 
activities over the past year included: 

• Building on the Employee Engagement survey conducted  
 in 2019, SATA’s Management and Human Resource  
 team developed and implemented action plans to improve  
 Employee Experience to elevate staff’s engagement level.  
 The efforts also contributed to staff motivation and  
 retention within the organisation.

• Human Resource team also conducted a process review  
 and decided to outsource the payroll function, which has  
 resulted in cost reduction and improved efficiency within  
 the department.

• The Board and Human Resource Committee endorsed  
 a new Hi-Potential Development Program to identify and  
 support development on emerging talent and next- 
 generation leaders. 

SATA CommHealth places strong emphasis on People 
Development, and staff are encouraged to attend trainings 
to enhance their skills so as to bring quality service and 
competencies to their areas of work. The HRC works closely 
with Management to ensure SATA CommHealth achieve 
its objectives of building a Consumer Centric and Highly 
Engaged Workforce.

ANNUAL REMUNERATION DISCLOSURE 
Under the revised Code of Charities and IPCs 2017, it is 
recommended that charities disclose the remuneration of 
the three highest paid staff who each received remuneration 
exceeding $100,000, in bands of $100,000. We have 

gone further by disclosing the five highest paid staff with 
remunerations above $100,000 in bands of $50,000. 

The remuneration in bands of the five highest paid staff are:

                                                          2019               2020

$300,001 - $350,000                            0                   0                                          
$250,001 - $300,000                            3                   2                                                                                      
$200,001 - $250,000                            2                   2                                          
$150,001 - $200,000                            0                   1                                                                          

One of the above staff serves as ex-officio in the Board, with 
no voting rights. 

SATA CommHealth has no paid staff, who are close members 
of the family of the CEO or Board, who each receives total 
remuneration of more than $50,000 during the year. No staff is 
involved in setting their own remuneration. 

The Board of Directors does not receive any fees for board 
services, nor any other services rendered during the year.

CHARITY GOVERNANCE / CHARITY 
TRANSPARENCY AWARDS
SATA CommHealth was awarded the Charity Transparency 
Awards from 2016 to 2019 and the Charity Governance Award 
in 2018. These awards were given a hiatus in 2020 due to the 
Covid-19 pandemic.

These awards affirmed our commitment to be effective, 
transparent, and accountable to our stakeholders.

LOOKING AHEAD
SATA CommHealth is committed to achieving high standards 
of corporate governance and setting the right values from 
the very top, improving its long-term performance, managing 
its risks, and maintaining internal controls. The Board and 
management will work together to adopt best practices 
relevant to the organisation and adhere to the principles and 
guidelines of the Code.

GOVERNANCE EVALUATION CHECKLIST
The Governance Evaluation Checklist (GEC) covers the key guidelines in the Code of Governance for Charities and IPCs
(“the Code”). Below is SATA CommHealth’s GEC (Advanced Tier) for FY2020.

S/N CODE GUIDELINE CODE ID
EXPLANATION (IF 

CODE GUIDELINE IS 
NOT COMPLIED WITH)

RESPONSE 
(SELECT WHICHEVER

IS APPLICABLE)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

Complied

NA

No

NA

Complied

Complied

Complied

NA

Complied

Complied

Complied

Complied

No

1.1.2

1.1.3

1.1.5

1.1.7

1.1.8

1.1.12

1.1.13

1.2.1

2.1

2.4

3.2.2

Induction and orientation are provided to incoming 
governing board members upon joining the Board.

Staff does not chair the Board and does not comprise
more than one third of the Board.

Are there governing board members holding staff1 
appointments? (skip items 2 and 3 if “No”)

There are written job descriptions for the staff’s executive 
functions and operational duties, which are distinct from the 
staff’s Board role.

The Treasurer of the charity (or any person holding an 
equivalent position in the charity, e.g. Finance Committee 
Chairman or a governing board member responsible for 
overseeing the finances of the charity) can only serve a 
maximum of 4 consecutive years.

If the charity has not appointed any governing board member 
to oversee its finances, it will be presumed that the Chairman 
oversees the finances of the charity.

All governing board members must submit themselves for re-
nomination and re-appointment, at least once every 3 years.

The Board conducts self evaluation to assess its 
performance and effectiveness once during its term or every 
3 years, whichever is shorter.

The charity discloses in its annual report the reasons for 
retaining the governing board member who has served 
for more than 10 consecutive years.

There are documented terms of reference for the Board 
and each of its committees.

There are documented procedures for governing board 
members and staff to declare actual or potential conflicts of 
interest to the Board at the earliest opportunity.

Governing board members do not vote or participate in 
decision making on matters where they have a conflict of 
interest.

The Board periodically reviews and approves the strategic 
plan for the charity to ensure that the charity’s activities are in 
line with the charity’s objectives.

Is there any governing board member who has served for 
more than 10 consecutive years? (skip item 7 if “No”)

BOARD GOVERNANCE

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

STRATEGIC PLANNING
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S/N S/NCODE GUIDELINE CODE GUIDELINECODE ID CODE ID
EXPLANATION (IF 

CODE GUIDELINE IS 
NOT COMPLIED WITH)

EXPLANATION (IF 
CODE GUIDELINE IS 

NOT COMPLIED WITH)

RESPONSE 
(SELECT WHICHEVER

IS APPLICABLE)

RESPONSE 
(SELECT WHICHEVER

IS APPLICABLE)

12

13

14

23

15

24

16

25

17

18

27

29

19

20

26

21

28

22

Complied Yes

Complied

Complied
Yes

No

Complied

Complied

Complied

Yes

Complied

Complied

Complied

Complied

NA

Complied

Complied

Complied

NA

Complied

Complied

Complied

Yes

Yes

3.2.4 3.2.4

5.1

5.3

7.2.2

5.5

7.2.3

5.7

8.2

6.1.1

6.1.2

8.3

8.4

6.1.3

6.1.4

2.2

6.2.1

2.2

6.4.3

There is a documented plan to develop the capacity and 
capability of the charity and the Board monitors the progress 
of the plan.

Did the charity receive cash donations (solicited or 
unsolicited) during the financial year? (skip item 23
if “No”)

The Board approves documented human resource policies 
for staff.

There is a documented Code of Conduct for governing 
board members, staff and volunteers (where applicable) 
which is approved by the Board.

Did the charity receive donations in kind during the 
financial year? (skip item 24 if “No”)

Are governing board members remunerated for their 
services to the Board? (skip items 26 and 27 if “No”)

Does the charity employ paid staff? (skip items 28, 29
and 30 if “No”)

All collections received (solicited or unsolicited) are properly 
accounted for and promptly deposited by the charity.

There are processes for regular supervision, appraisal and 
professional development of staff.

All donations in kind received are properly recorded and 
accounted for by the charity.

Are there volunteers serving in the charity? (skip item 16 
if “No”)

There are volunteer management policies in place for 
volunteers.

The charity discloses in its annual report —

(a) the number of Board meetings in the financial year; and

(b) the attendance of every governing board member at  
 those meetings.

There is a documented policy to seek the Board’s approval 
for any loans, donations, grants or financial assistance 
provided by the charity which are not part of the charity’s 
core charitable programmes.

The Board ensures that internal controls for financial 
matters in key areas are in place with documented 
procedures.

The charity discloses the exact remuneration and benefits 
received by each governing board member in its annual 
report.

OR

The charity discloses that no governing board member is 
remunerated.

The charity discloses in its annual report —

(a) the total annual remuneration for each of its 3 highest  
 paid staff who each has received remuneration (including  
 remuneration received from the charity’s subsidiaries)  
 exceeding $100,000 during the financial year; and

(b) whether any of the 3 highest paid staff also serves as a  
 governing board member of the charity.

 The information relating to the remuneration of the staff  
 must be presented in bands of $100,000.

 OR

 The charity discloses that none of its paid staff receives  
 more than $100,000 each in annual remuneration.

The Board ensures that reviews on the charity’s internal 
controls, processes, key programmes and events are 
regularly conducted.

The Board ensures that there is a process to identify, and 
regularly monitor and review the charity’s key risks.

No governing board member is involved in setting his own 
remuneration.

The Board approves an annual budget for the charity’s plans 
and regularly monitors the charity’s expenditure.

No staff is involved in setting his own remuneration.

The charity has a documented investment policy approved 
by the Board.

Does the charity invest its reserves (e.g. in fixed 
deposits)? (skip item 22 if “No”)

STRATEGIC PLANNING (CONT’D) FUND-RAISING PRACTICES

DISCLOSURE AND TRANSPARENCY

HUMAN RESOURCE AND VOLUNTEER2 MANAGEMENT

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

GOVERNANCE EVALUATION CHECKLIST (CONT’D) GOVERNANCE EVALUATION CHECKLIST (CONT’D)
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER (CEO)

CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER (COO)

FINANCE DEPARTMENT

CORPORATE ACCOUNTS

COMMUNITY PROJECTS
DEPARTMENT

OPERATIONS
DEPARTMENT

CALL CENTRE

MOBILE MEDICAL SERVICES
(MMS) DEPARTMENT

FACILITY MANAGEMENT

REHABILITATION
DEPARTMENT

DOCTORS-ON-WHEELS 
DEPARTMENT

HOMECARE

FUND-RAISING DEPARTMENT

FUND-RAISING

HR DEPARTMENT

IT DEPARTMENT

CLINICAL SERVICES
DEPARTMENT

TELE-HEALTH

QUALITY AND INNOVATION 

MEDICAL DIRECTOR 

STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIPS, 
BRANDING, FUND-RAISING & 

COMMUNICATIONS

CORPORATE 
COMMUNICATIONS
AND MARKETING 

DEPARTMENT

OPERATIONSCOMMUNITY PROGRAMMES 

DIAGNOSTIC IMAGING
DEPARTMENT

TELE-HEALTH
DEPARTMENT

PROCUREMENT
DEPARTMENT

QUALITY & INNOVATION
DEPARTMENT

Clinical 
Services &
Procurement  
Group

Strategic Partnerships, 
Branding, Fund-Raising & 
Communications Group

Community Programmes & 
Community Nusing Group

Operations
Group

HOMECARE
DEPARTMENT

FACILITY MANAGEMENT 
DEPARTMENT

ORGANISATION
CHARTS/N CODE GUIDELINE CODE ID

EXPLANATION (IF 
CODE GUIDELINE IS 

NOT COMPLIED WITH)

RESPONSE 
(SELECT WHICHEVER

IS APPLICABLE)

30

31

Complied

Complied

8.5

9.2

The charity discloses the number of paid staff who satisfies 
all of the following criteria:

(a) the staff is a close member of the family3 belonging to  
 the Executive Head4 or a governing board member of the  
 charity;

(b) the staff has received remuneration exceeding $50,000  
 during the financial year.

The information relating to the remuneration of the staff must 
be presented in bands of $100,000.

OR

The charity discloses that there is no paid staff, being a close 
member of the family3 belonging to the Executive Head4 or 
a governing board member of the charity, who has received 
remuneration exceeding $50,000 during the financial year.

The charity has a documented communication policy on 
the release of information about the charity and its activities 
across all media platforms.

DISCLOSURE AND TRANSPARENCY (CONT’D) 

PUBLIC IMAGE

GOVERNANCE EVALUATION CHECKLIST (CONT’D)

Note:
1 Staff: Paid or unpaid individual who is involved in the day to day operations of the charity, e.g. an Executive Director or administrative personnel.
2 Volunteer: A person who willingly serves the charity without expectation of any remuneration.
3  Close member of the family: A family member belonging to the Executive Head or a governing board member of a charity —
    (a) who may be expected to influence the Executive Head’s or governing board member’s (as the case may be) dealings with the charity; or
    (b) who may be influenced by the Executive Head or governing board member (as the case may be) in the family member’s dealings with the charity.

 A close member of the family may include the following:
    (a) the child or spouse of the Executive Head or governing board member;
   (b) the stepchild of the Executive Head or governing board member;
    (c) the dependant of the Executive Head or governing board member.
   (d) the dependant of the Executive Head’s or governing board member’s spouse.
4 Executive Head: The most senior staff member in charge of the charity’s staff.
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MANAGEMENT
TEAM 

1. MR EDMUND KHOO
 Tele-health and Procurement 
 Assistant Director

2. MR DENSON JOSEPH
 Fund-raising and Strategic Partnerships 
 Assistant Director

3. MR ONG SING  
 Head of Information Technology
 Deputy Director

4. MR CHIA BOON KHIANG  
 Head of Strategic Partnerships & Branding
 Director

5. DR CHERYL LATHA GLENN
 Medical Director

6. DR KELVIN PHUA
 Chief Executive Officer

7. MR TAN KEE GUAN
 Chief Operating Officer

8. MR SHERMAN CHAN
 Head of Community Programmes
 Deputy Director

9. MR SUGUMARAN S/O SUBRAMANYAM  
 Head of Operations
 Deputy Director

10. MS CATHERINE NG
 Head of Human Resources
 Deputy Director

11. MR TAN WEE TAI  
 Homecare Services
 Assistant Director

12. MR LUM HEAN CHOONG
 Facility Management 
 Assistant Director

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12
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OUR DEDICATED 
TEAMS SERVING THE 
COMMUNITY 

Delivering quality 
care in a home 
setting especially 
to the vulnerable 
is rewarding and it 
provides a sense of 
self-achievement to 
nurses serving home 
based patients.

Tan Wee Tai
Assistant Director,
Homecare Services

Due to COVID-19, 
rehabilitation services 

expanded with the use 
of video consultation; to 

ensure that our clients’ 
rehabilitation recovery is 

not disrupted.

Siti Zubaidah
Senior Community

Programmes Manager

We will do our 
very best to help people in 
the community who are in 
need so that we can fight 
the pandemic together.
Dr Laura Kasenda
Resident Family Physician

I am determined 
to do my part 

when diagnostic 
imaging team is 
deployed to the 
community care 

facility. SATA’s presence 
and services are important 

in the community.

Betty Mathew
Principal Radiographer 
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HERE TO SERVE
FOR THE HEALTH OF 

THE COMMUNITY

SATA CommHealth kicked off the year with a steady influx of 
corporate and community clients across its medical centres and 
mobile services.
As the global conversation started spinning around COVID-19, 
the team started preparations for a potential pandemic with 
table-top exercises, mask-fitting exercises for frontline staff 
and re-educating and reinforcing infection control measures at 
medical centres and offsite corporate and community events.

SATA CommHealth worked closely with Ministry of Health 
(MOH), Health Promotion Board (HPB) and the Agency for 
Integrated Care (AIC) in the fight against the pandemic, 
adapting its operating model in a period of uncertainty and 
continued serving the community in new ways.

While there was a drop in the business as usual patient 
volume and revenue through the medical centres and mobile 
services team, the team regrouped and reshaped itself to 
support a slew of pandemic response projects.

All of SATA CommHealth’s medical centres were already on 
the Public Health Preparedness Clinic (PHPC) panel allowing 
SATA CommHealth to continue supporting public health 
needs by looking after the sick in the community, rendering 
swab tests for COVID-19 symptomatic patients and prompt 
escalations to the public health system. 

SATA CommHealth also set up operations in five migrant 
worker dormitories looking after the primary care needs of the 
workers, administering swab tests for the migrant workers 

SATA CommHealth 
serology staff 
at a dormitory

PANDEMIC
COVID-19
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INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 
NEW ENTERPRISE CLINIC MANAGEMENT SYSTEM
In 2020, SATA CommHealth’s Information Technology (IT) 
successfully rolled out the new Clinic Management System 
(CMS) to all medical centres. SATA CommHealth’s very 
own patient app was also introduced in July 2020, which 
incorporates a Tele-Consult module with cashless payment. 
This completes one of SATA CommHealth’s major IT 
milestones and the first phase of our digital transformation 
journey. The IT team continues to work with key stakeholders 
to further enhance the clinical system to improve patient 
experience and to streamline workflow. One of the major 
projects in the pipeline is the online self-service portal for 
corporate clients.

DIGITAL TRANSFORMATION 
The next phase of the digital transformation plan looks 
towards enhancing SATA CommHealth’s operational efficiency 
through the use of IT automation application systems and 
deploying the right IT tools. Management will explore data 
analytics and tele-health virtual care, such as tele-medicine 
and tele-care. 

IT systems such as Email, Office applications and the HR 
system will be moved to the cloud. Besides providing a 
secure platform resilient to cybersecurity, the Microsoft 365 
cloud platform allows the IT team the ability to manage 
resources effectively and to scale as and when required, 
without investing heavily on new hardware and software cost.

and looking after recovering COVID-19 patients. Till year end, 
we performed more than 8,000 medical consultations for 
migrant workers. 

Part of SATA CommHealth’s headquarters premises was also 
converted into a temporary swabbing centre to support the 
ongoing Stay-Home-Notice (SHN) swabbing operations of 
Singaporeans and travellers entering Singapore. 

Functional screenings and corporate health screenings, 
which were a key revenue pillar of the mobile services team, 
were temporarily ceased at the height of the pandemic. The 
mobile services team shifted into gear, supporting swabbing 
and serology operations across several migrant worker 
dormitories. 

SATA CommHealth’s mobile diagnostic buses were also used 
to support public hospitals at the onset of the pandemic, but 
their key role was at the Singapore Expo Community Isolation 
Facility (CIF), working with different public healthcare groups 
to support the care of migrant workers there. A team of 
radiographers and logistics personnel worked 12-hour shifts 
to support our healthcare partners with prompt diagnostic 
services and reporting. In total, more than 4,300 X-rays were 
done at the Singapore Expo CIF and other locations. 

While outgoing travel restrictions reduced the number of 
e-visas at both designated e-visa sites at SATA CommHealth 
Bedok and Ang Mo Kio Medical Centres by 66%, there was 
an uptake of more patients benefiting from subsidised medical 
care with more than 11,000 unique beneficiaries. 

We also saw more seniors interested in Advance Care 
Planning (ACP) and Lasting Power of Attorney (LPA) with more 
than 200 attending e-workshops and conferences that SATA 
CommHealth participated in. From November onwards, the 
rollout of the National Adult Immunisation Schedule (NAIS) 
saw 841 patients take their vaccinations at our medical 
centres. We also saw a progressive opening of community 
events with community functional screenings scheduled. As 
of year-end, we did 13 functional screenings, serving 496 
beneficiaries, even as COVID-19 disrupted these operations 
for most parts of the year.

While much of the work in 2020 evolved around COVID-19, 
it also demonstrated the resilience and ability of the team to 
respond to the healthcare needs of the community, serving 
over 200,000 patients through its medical centres, various 
COVID-19 projects and mobile events generating more than 
$14.4 million in revenue even as the pandemic continues to 
change our operating model.

COVID-19 swab booth provided by Temasek SATA CommHealth serology staff taking blood of a migrant worker

The new Microsoft 365 platform will enable remote working 
using video-conferencing and virtual collaboration tools. 

CYBERSECURITY AND ISO CERTIFICATION
The COVID-19 pandemic is reshaping IT and has caused 
significant shifts in Information Technology in 2020. 
CyberSecurity will need to be enhanced and tightened. IT 
aims to further strengthen our cybersecurity by seeking ISO 
27001cybersecurity certification by the end of 2021.

SATA CommHealth 
Tele-consultation

App

SATA PATIENT APP
WHICH INCORPORATES A 

TELE-CONSULT MODULE WITH 
CASHLESS PAYMENT IS ONE OF 
SATA COMMHEALTH’S MAJOR 

IT MILESTONES. 

MEDICAL CENTERS SERVICES, 
COVID-19 PROJECTS AND 

MOBILE EVENTS GENERATED 
MORE THAN

$14.4M
IN REVENUE
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SATA COMMHEALTH 
FUND-RAISING DEPARTMENT 

MANAGED TO RAISE A TOTAL OF

$624,000
BY END OF 2020 DESPITE 
OF COVID-19 OUTBREAK 

FACILITIES MANAGEMENT
2020 was a tumultuous and challenging year for Facilities 
Management due to the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic. 
Three words define our year; hygiene, disinfection and 
safe distancing. In February, we had appointed a 
new cleaning vendor and were working closely with 
their cleaners to familiarise them with our cleaning 
requirements and standards, including vetting their 
cleaning solutions to ensure they had the necessary 
disinfecting agents when COVID-19 hit in March. Even 
though, as a medical centre, we had good hygiene 
standards, we had to step up and increase our cleaning 
frequency ensuring all high touch surfaces were wiped 
down frequently. For this, we could not depend on just 
a single cleaner per medical centre to perform. Thus, 
team SATA CommHealth stepped up and staff helped by 
wiping down their immediate work area and counters.

Furniture was re-organised, seats were taped off and floor 
markings were introduced to ensure compliance to safe 
distancing. Arrangements were made with our biohazard 
disposal vendor to increase their disposal runs due to 
increased usage of PPE and new tie-ups were forged with 
disinfection vendors who could provide deep cleaning 
services when a confirmed COVID-19 case was detected 
in our premises.

Our Mobile Medical Services (MMS) department 
procured new contracts for diagnostic imaging, medical, 

FUND-RAISING
SATA CommHealth Fund-raising department was officially 
set up in Jan 2020. The department started its fund-raising 
activities throughout the year in 2020. Whilst it was a 
challenging year because of COVID-19 outbreak, the team 
managed to raise a total of $624,000 by end of 2020. SATA 
CommHealth’s Fund-raising Efficiency Ratio for FY2020
was 17.6%. 

These donations were contributions from the general public 
and corporate companies via mass mailers, online fund-
raising campaigns and electronic appeals via emails and 
electronic direct mailers. In total, the charity also garnered a 
strong pool of 2,000 donors over the span of the year.

Since inception, the department undertook and executed 
all fund-raising activities and formulated proper work 
procedures and Standard Operating Procedure (SOP) that 
is in compliance to all audit requirements by the sector 
administrator.

Through the guidance of the sub-committee, the Fund-raising 
department worked in tandem to tirelessly execute all its 
fund-raising activities in 2020. We set the benchmark to raise 
the amount of one million dollars. This is to support SATA 
CommHealth’s Community programmes such as Doctors-
On-Wheels, Homecare Services, Rehabilitation Services, 
Community Hub and outreach programme benefitting the 
seniors and the vulnerable in our community. 

One of the collaborations was a corporate social responsibility 
initiative that SATA CommHealth ran with Dell Technology to 

swabbing and serology services at the Singapore EXPO 
and dormitories and we supported them in biohazard waste 
disposal and disinfection services for the X-ray buses. As the 
pandemic evolved, a circuit breaker was imposed from April 
to June and subsequently, a lockdown of the migrant worker 
dormitories as COVID-19 spread. These events hit us badly as 
our vendors and contractors were shorn of their workers and 
many of our regular maintenance and servicing work including 
our planned improvement works for our medical centres 
were delayed. Fortunately, we did not experience any major 
breakdown or disruption of our essential services.

As we moved on to Phase 2, we gradually resumed our 
activities. Rejuvenation works were carried out to the MMS 
office and painting works to our medical centres in Chai Chee 
and Ang Mo Kio. Swab and serology centres were also set 
up in Boon Lay and Chai Chee to support regular COVID-19 
testing. The year also saw the closing down of our medical 
centres in Tanjong Pagar and Boon Lay and our Jurong East 
Community Health Centre. Facilities team was involved in 
the shifting of equipment, furniture and supplies to the other 
Medical Centres. This also involved renovating rooms in 
Woodlands and Jurong Medical Centres to accommodate the 
transfer of the X-ray and Bone Mineral Density machines there.

In 2021, as we adjust to the new normal, we look forward to 
supporting the Operations and MMS teams in their growth 
endeavours and will continue to maintain our new standards 
of hygiene management.

SATA CommHealth CEO
Dr Kelvin Phua (third from left) 
and Chairman Mr Stanley Sia 
(left most), MP for Punggol 
Sun Xueling (in white dress) 
and management staff from 
Dell holding and looking at 

the home medicine box to be 
distributed to beneficiaries.

provide each needy and senior resident residing at Fernvale 
rented flats with a home medical box during the peak of the 
COVID-19 outbreak.

Each home medical box contains over-the-counter type of 
medication. This is to help prevent seniors and the vulnerable 
from having to go to medical centres when they have minor 
ailments, for fear of contacting the COVID-19 virus.

In total, 1,000 home medical boxes were distributed to these 
vulnerable families and seniors. Most of these beneficiaries 
reside at Punggol West. Similar to this collaboration, SATA 
CommHealth also provided the home medical boxes to the 
migrant workers staying in dormitories.

We are grateful to all donors for their generous donations. Every 
donation amount will enable SATA CommHealth to help the 
vulnerable and seniors and we hope more will join in to help.

Health attendant wiping furniture Health attendant cleaning all contact areas
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HERE TO DELIVER 
HOLISTIC CARE TO 
OUR COMMUNITY

In 2020, SATA CommHealth embarked on an exercise to 
review how we could better deliver our suite of services
to our beneficiaries.
After the review, SATA CommHealth’s Management Team decided to 
consolidate all the community services under the Community programmes 
department, to allow for planning and execution of services.

In addition to providing community services to the seniors and vulnerable, 
SATA CommHealth plans to work with and through our community partners to 
deliver a more complete care solution to their beneficiaries in 2021.

INSTITUTIONS OF A PUBLIC CHARACTER (IPCs)
SATA CommHealth was approved as an Institution of Public Character (IPC) 
under the Charities Act (Cap.37) for another 2 years from 20 June 2020 to 
19 June 2022. As an approved IPC, SATA CommHealth is allowed to solicit 
funds from the public to pursue its worthy causes and donors are given 
tax-deductions for their donations. Donations will help us sustain and extend 
our medical care and charitable programmes for the needy and elderly in our 
community.

Community
Care Excellence 

Awards 2020 awarded 
to staff of SATA 
CommHealth.

SATA COMMHEALTH 
WAS APPROVED AS AN 

INSTITUTION OF PUBLIC 
CHARACTER (IPC)

SINCE 2019.
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STUDENTS

THE SCHOOL 
PROGRAMME TEAM 
MANAGED TO MOVE 

SOME OF THE 
ACTIVITIES TO VIRTUAL 

PLATFORM AND 
MANAGED TO REACH 

OUT TO ABOUT

1,157

SCHOOL PROGRAMME
Health education is an important facet of our community services. We believe that health 
education programme in schools is an effective strategy to prevent major health and social 
problems, as schools can play a major role in students’ health related behaviours. 

With the onset of COVID-19 pandemic in 2020, the execution of events and rolling out of new 
initiatives were disrupted, as schools halted big events and large gathering to prevent the 
spread of disease and part of the national prevention strategy.

In spite of the restriction, the school programme team managed to move some of the activities 
to virtual platform (e.g. Smoking Cessation Workshop) and managed to reach out to about 
1,157 students. Looking ahead, as the country moves to a new normal, the team will continue 
to explore new mode of delivering the programme to the schools, as well as starting new 
workshops e.g. Stress Management and Mental Wellness to help students manage their social 
and mental wellbeing brought about by the impact of COVID-19.

Doctors-On-Wheels 
Team

Primary School 
Handwashing

Demo Workshop

DOW TEAM MANAGED 
TO SERVE 538 UNIQUE 
BENEFICIARIES AND A 

TOTAL OF

EPISODES IN 2020

1,109

DOCTORS-ON-WHEELS
Doctors-On-Wheels (DOW) is a community programme that provides subsidised onsite medical 
services to the seniors and vulnerable who has limited or no access to such services. Through 
internal referral, seniors are able to access to SATA CommHealth’s suite of other services 
like diagnostic imaging, laboratory, rehabilitation, homecare services; to maintain them in the 
community for as long as possible. 

During the circuit breaker, DOW service was halted as a precautionary measure to protect the 
seniors. DOW team rolled out Tele-Consultation and medication delivery services to ensure that 
seniors continued to receive the much needed services and care throughout this period.

Despite the COVID 19 situation, the DOW team managed to serve 538 unique beneficiaries
and a total of 1,109 episodes in 2020.
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DAY REHABILITATION CENTRE (DRC)
SATA CommHealth Day Rehabilitation Centre offers a wide 
range of rehabilitation services, generally occupational therapy 
and physiotherapy services, to facilitate a holistic recovery 
after an episode of trauma, impairment or disability in enabling 
one to engage in their activities of daily living.

Months leading up to the circuit breaker, the community 
progamme was halted for about 2 months during circuit 
breaker as a precautionary measure to prevent the spread 
of COVID-19 in large crowd. This led to a decrease in the 
number of seniors who visited the centre. 

In order to prevent our beneficiaries from deterioration or 
avoidable admission to the restructured hospital, we realised 
the rehabilitation services should not be disrupted. With the 
support from the Ministry of Health, SATA CommHealth’s 

Rehabiliation team conducted home therapy for seniors 
at risk, though the programme is only funded for seniors 
receiving services at the centre.

The team realised that the current model of service delivery is 
not sustainable and seniors’ care may be compromised thus 
the Video Consultation service was developed where seniors 
could receive rehabilitation services in the comfort and safety 
of their home. More than 150 clients have received video 
consultation services.

Despite all the challenges brought about by COVID-19, 
the team managed to serve 479 unique beneficiaries and 
rendered 4,229 episodes of rehabilitation service.

DOT & SHOP PROGRAMME
SATA CommHealth has come a long way with the fight 
against Tuberculosis (TB). While TB is not fully eradicated 
in Singapore, latent TB infection is common amongst the 
Singapore population and newly diagnosed TB infection is 
between 1,400 to 1,600 cases annually. 

SATA CommHealth is still very much involved in the 
fight against TB, though not directly. Since 2009, SATA 
CommHealth has been collaborating with the Tuberculosis 
Control Unit (TBCU) in the DOT and SHOP programme. 
Setting aside $100,000 annually, TBCU will disburse grocery 
vouchers to low-income patients with TB at each clinic visit, 
if they have been adhering to the “Direct Observed Therapy” 
(DOT).

This programme managed to increase the treatment 
compliance rate and has benefited over 170 patients in 2020.

IN 2020, WE
HAVE CONDUCTED

A TOTAL OF

HOME NURSING 
VISITS

7,908
CLIENTS HAVE RECEIVED 

VIDEO CONSULTATION 
SERVICES IN 2020

150
&

SATA CommHealth Home Personal Care staff with the beneficiary 
and her husband.

SATA CommHealth staff distributing masks to one of the residents at 
Fernvale rental flat.

A patient going through 
physiotherapy at SATA 

CommHealth Bedok Day 
Rehabilitation Centre

HOME MEDICAL VISITS 
BENEFITTING CLOSE TO 795 

SENIORS AND VULNERABLE IN 
THE COMMUNITY

300

HOMECARE
SATA CommHealth Homecare Services was launched in 2012 
to meet the needs of homebound patients, with the aim of 
minimising pre-matured institutionalisation and unplanned 
hospital admissions. 

During the circuit breaker period, some of the community 
services were halted due to COVID-19 situation. However, 
the Homecare team continued to support our beneficiaries 
with home medical; home nursing and home personal care, 
thereby keeping them safe at home. 

In 2020, we have conducted a total of 7,908 home nursing 
visits and 300 home medical visits benefitting more than 700 
unique beneficiaries in the community. Since the launch of 
Home Personal Care in 2019, we have seen an increase of 
more than 300% in the number of services rendered in 2020. 

Moving forward, the Homecare team plans to leverage on 
technology to improve the accessibility to our services, 
increase productivity and efficiency in service delivery, as 
well as giving our beneficiaries and caregivers a good care 
experience. 

COMMUNITY HUB
SATA CommHealth Community Hub was set up to serve the 
residents living in Fernvale, mainly the rental block residents. 
Aiming to be a one-stop centre for the residents, the hub 
provides both medical and social services.

Due to COVID-19, the Community Hub had to put all physical 
social activities on hold. Regular phone calls and home 
visits were the order of the day to care for the vulnerable 
residents, to ensure that they are coping well during the circuit 
breaker period. At the same time, to continue engaging the 
residents, the team conducted social activities such as Group 
Exercise and Cooking Demo through Zoom. One-to-one 
digital workshop was also conducted to ensure that residents 
especially the seniors are able to access online platforms such 
as Zoom and WhatsApp to participate in the social activities. 

The Community Hub was quick to answer to the 
Government’s call to activate Public Health Preparedness 
Clinic (PHPC) service, residents can consult the doctor 
should they be having any Acute Respiratory Infection (ARI) 
symptoms and tap on the subsidy. In addition to that, the 
clinic staff were also involved in “Swab Test” project at care 
facilities and homes.

To prevent diseases, the Community Hub also encouraged 
residents to get vaccinated, especially flu and pneumococcal 
vaccines, with the rolling out of the National Adult 
Immunisation Scheme (NAIS). The team has also been 
working actively to raise awareness on health screening, 
particularly the recommended national screening, Screen for 
Life (SFL).

In 2020, the Community Hub served 2,517 unique 
beneficiaries which is a 70% increase, compared to 2019 and 
provided 8,597 episodes of care services.

CASES
ANNUALLY

NEWLY DIAGNOSED 
TB INFECTION IS 
BETWEEN

1,400 TO 

1,600
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BENEFICIARIES
SERVED IN 2020

BENEFICIARIES
SERVED (2018 to 2020)

OUTREACH AND ADVOCACY (COMMUNITY EVENTS)

SUBSIDISED CARE AT MEDICAL CENTRES

HOMECARE SERVICES

THERAPY AT DAY REHABILITATION CENTRES

DOCTORS-ON-WHEELS

COMMUNITY HUB AT FERNVALE

JURONG EAST COMMUNITY HEALTH CENTRE

TOTAL (2020)

COVID-19 SERVICES 
(MEDICAL SERVICES AT MIGRANT WORKER DORMITORIES, 
DEPLOYMENT OF X-RAY BUSES, COVID-19 TESTING)

EPISODES OF CARE UNIQUE BENEFICIARIES

6,062

13,461

11,094

4,229

1,109

8,597

340

99,785

54,893

5,850

11,617

795

479

538

2,517

146

76,541

54,599

Unique Beneficiaries are derived based on different line of services and programmes.

TOTAL UNIQUE BENEFICIARIES

TOTAL EPISODES OF CARE

2018
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GENERAL X-RAY 
VOLUME

% DISTRIBUTION 

-38.76%

-40.04%

-50.94%

-23.04%

-15.29%

-69.13%

CHEST X-RAY 
VOLUME

% DISTRIBUTION 

DIAGNOSTIC
IMAGING

CONSULTATIONS &
VACCINATIONS

VOLUME
CHANGE

ECHO 

MAMMOGRAM 

ULTRASOUND

BMD

VOLUME

VOLUME

VOLUME

VOLUME

% DISTRIBUTION 

% DISTRIBUTION 

% DISTRIBUTION 

% DISTRIBUTION 

-39.01%VOLUME

% DISTRIBUTION 

GRAND
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CONSULTATIONS &
HEALTH SCREENING 

VACCINATIONS MEDICAL 
CHECK-UPS

24.0
29.7

115.1

9.9

20202019

18.6

77.5

7,512

2020

6.83%

93,565

26

2,131

6,187

602

85.04%

0.02%

1.94%

5.62%

0.55%

110,023
100%

2019

12,267
6.8%

156,058
86.51%

53
0.03%

2,769
1.53%

7,304
4.05%

1,950
1.08%

180,401
100%
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DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT 

We are pleased to submit this annual report to the members of the Company together with the audited financial statements for the financial year ended 
31 December 2020.

In our opinion:

(a) the financial statements set out on pages 48 to 77 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as   
 at 31 December 2020 and the financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Company for the year ended on that date in  
 accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50, the Charities Act, Chapter 37 and other relevant regulations (“the  
 Charities Act and Regulations”) and the Singapore Financial Reporting Standards; and

(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

The Board of Directors has, on the date of this statement, authorised these financial statements for issue.

Directors
The directors in office at the date of this statement are as follows:

Mr Stanley Sia Swie Kean (Chairman)
Dr Edward Yang Tuck Loong (Vice-Chairman)
A/Prof Themin Suwardy (Vice-Chairman)
A/Prof Jason Yap Chin Huat 
Mr Michael Richard Buchholz 
Mr Matthew Saw Seang Kuan 
Mr John Yong Tiong Hwee 
Mr Ganu Shailesh Anand 
Ms Tern Huey Min (appointed on 23/6/2020)
Ms Charlotte Hsu Yuh Feng (appointed on 23/6/2020)
Ms Karen Wee Siew Lin (appointed on 23/6/2020)
Mr Tan Boon Gin (appointed on 23/6/2020)

Directors’ interests
The Company is limited by guarantee and has no share capital and debentures.

Share options
The Company is limited by guarantee. As such, there are no share options or unissued shares under option.

Auditors
The auditors, KPMG LLP, have indicated their willingness to accept re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Mr Stanley Sia Swie Kean
Chairman

12 May 2021
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As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit  
 procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not  
 detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional  
 omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls.

• Obtain an understanding of internal controls relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but  
 not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls. 

 • Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by  
 management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether  
 a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.  
 If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial  
 statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of  
 our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements  
 represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal controls that we identify during our audit.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required to be kept by the Company have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the 
Companies Act, and the Charities Act and Regulations.

During the course of our audit, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that during the year:

(a) the Company has not used the donation moneys in accordance with its objectives as required under Regulation 11 of the Charities (Institutions of a  
 Public Character) Regulations; and

(b) the Company has not complied with the requirements of Regulation 15 of the Charities (Institutions of a Public Character) Regulations.

KPMG LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants

Singapore
12 May 2021 

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of SATA CommHealth (“the Company”), which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 
2020, the statement of financial activities, statement of changes in accumulated fund and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to 
the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, as set out on pages 48 to 77.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (“the 
Companies Act”), the Charities Act, Chapter 37 and other relevant regulations (“the Charities Act and Regulations”), and Singapore Financial Reporting 
Standards (“FRSs”) so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2020 and of the financial performance, 
changes in accumulated fund and cash flows of the Company for the year ended on that date.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described 
in the ‘Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with 
the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (“ACRA 
Code”) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other information 

Management is responsible for the other information contained in the annual report. Other information is defined as all information in the annual report 
other than the financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon.

We have obtained all other information prior to the date of this auditors’ report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the 
other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the financial statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the provisions of the Companies 
Act, the Charities Act and Regulations and FRSs, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a 
reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that 
they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, 
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the 
Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance comprises the directors. Their responsibilities include overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
Members of the Company
SATA CommHealth
(Limited By Guarantee And Not Having A Share Capital)

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
Members of the Company
SATA CommHealth
(Limited By Guarantee And Not Having A Share Capital)

ANNUAL REPORT 202046 HERE TO CARE FOR THE COMMUNITY 47



 Note 2020  2019

  $  $

INCOMING RESOURCES   

Voluntary income   

Donations 14 638,179 20,986

Grant - Jobs Support Scheme  15(a)  2,263,918  –

Grants - others  15(b)  1,505,150  743,350

   

Charitable income   

Income from community outreach activities  1,739,279 1,565,062

   

Funds generating activities   

Clinical, diagnostic imaging and laboratory services fees  14,220,391 15,399,462

Interest and dividend income 16 1,353,336 1,485,817

Rental income 22 704,392 680,928

Other income 17 78,153 31,860

Total incoming resources  22,502,798 19,927,465

   

RESOURCES EXPENDED   

Cost of generating funds   

Clinical, diagnostic imaging and laboratory services expenses 18 12,596,858 13,573,595

Investment management fees  84,091 89,075

   

Resources expended for charitable activities   

Operating expenses 19 5,699,269 6,363,956

   

Administrative expenses   

Administrative expenses 20 5,186,212 5,983,119

   

Total resources expended  23,566,430 26,009,745

   

NET DEFICIT BEFORE OTHER RECOGNISED GAINS      (1,063,632) (6,082,280)

   

OTHER RECOGNISED GAINS   

Gains on disposals of financial instruments   490,421  891,615

Fair value gains on financial instruments   2,152,381  3,338,223

Foreign exchange translation gains   567,040  49,577

Total other recognised gains   3,209,842  4,279,415

NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR  2,146,210 (1,802,865)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

 Note 2020  2019

  $  $

ASSETS   

Non-current asset   

Property, plant and equipment 4 14,665,243 17,310,569

   

Current assets   

Cash and cash equivalents 5 4,084,695 1,212,503

Trade and other receivables 6 2,131,989 2,030,469

Inventories 7 114,205 132,021

Prepayments  58,980 51,028

Investments 8 49,614,516 49,154,330

  56,004,385 52,580,351

   

Total assets  70,669,628 69,890,920

   

FUND AND LIABILITIES   

Fund   

Accumulated fund 9  63,275,134  61,128,924

Total fund   63,275,134  61,128,924

   

Non-current liability   

Lease liabilities 10 2,280,675 3,329,651

  2,280,675 3,329,651

   

Current liabilities   

Deferred revenue  – 118

Lease liabilities 10 745,532 855,704

Other liabilities 11 37,671 51,446

Provision for reinstatement cost 12 163,083 234,094

Trade and other payables 13 4,167,533 4,290,983

  5,113,819 5,432,345

   

Total liabilities  7,394,494 8,761,996

   

Total fund and liabilities  70,669,628 69,890,920

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2020

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES
As at 31 December 2020
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 Note 2020  2019

  $  $

Cash flows from operating activities   
Net surplus/(deficit) for the year  2,146,210  (1,802,865)

Adjustments for:   

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4 2,218,169 2,518,623

Allowance for impairment of trade receivables 6 12,399 9,362

Bad debts written off 6 (761) (2,097)

Amortisation of deferred capital grant 11 (21,131) (42,233)

Reversal of deferred capital grant 11 (644) –

Gains on disposals of financial instruments  (490,421) (891,615)

Fair value gains on financial instruments  (2,152,381) (3,338,223)

Loss on disposal of plant and equipment  260,078 1,824

Plant and equipment written off  7,780 3,000

Loss on early lease termination   7,949 –

Interest income from investments  16 (1,093,792) (1,021,738)

Interest expense on lease liabilities  203,709 249,835

Dividend income 16 (259,544) (464,079)

Investment management fee and charges  90,481 147,304

Foreign exchange translation gains on investment portfolio  (567,040) (49,577)

  361,061 (4,682,479)

Changes in working capital:   

Inventories  17,816 (59,890)

Trade and other receivables  (113,158) (366,982)

Prepayments  (7,952) (34,290)

Trade and other payables  (186,462) 137,808

Deferred revenue   (118) (28,862)

Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities  71,187 (5,034,695)

   

Cash flows from investing activities   

Purchase of plant and equipment 4 (186,404) (1,636,037)

Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment   2,767 –

Proceeds from investment portfolio  4,000,000 6,500,000

Interest received  1,761 2,362

Dividend received  10,751 –

Net cash generated from investing activities  3,828,875 4,866,325

   

Cash flows used in financing activities   

Interest paid   (203,709) (249,835)

Payment of lease liabilities  (824,161) (842,003)

Net cash used in financing activities  (1,027,870) (1,091,838)

   

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  2,872,192 (1,260,208)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  1,212,503 2,472,711

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 5 4,084,695 1,212,503

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

  2020  2019

  $  $

Current year:

Balance at beginning of the year  61,128,924 62,931,789

Movements in fund:  

Net surplus/(deficit) for the year  2,146,210 (1,802,865)

Balance at end of the year  63,275,134 61,128,924

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN ACCUMULATED FUND
Year ended 31 December 2020

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended 31 December 2020
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These notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 12 May 2021. 

1 Domicile and activities
 SATA CommHealth (‘the Company’) is a voluntary, not-for-profit organisation limited by guarantee and incorporated in the Republic of Singapore. 
 The address of the Company’s registered office is 351 Chai Chee Street SATA CommHealth Building, Singapore 468982. On 20 June 2019, the  
 Company was designated as an institution of a public character (‘IPC’) under the Singapore Charities Act, Chapter 37. The IPC status was renewed  
 for another 2 years to 19 June 2022.

 The principal activities of the Company are the provision of clinical, diagnostic imaging and laboratory services for the prevention, diagnosis and  
 treatment of tuberculosis, chest and heart diseases as well as other medical and health-related services.

 Each member of the Company has undertaken to contribute such amounts not exceeding $50 to the assets of the Company in the event the  
 Company is wound up and the monies are required for payment of the liabilities of the Company. The Company had 74 (2019: 70) members at the  
 end of the reporting year.

 The memorandum and articles of association restrict the use of fund monies to the furtherance of the objects of the Company. They prohibit the  
 payment of dividends to members.

2 Basis of preparation
2.1 Statement of compliance

 The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”). The changes to significant  
 accounting policies are described in note 2.5.

2.2 Basis of measurement

 The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except as otherwise described in the notes below.

2.3 Functional and presentation currency

 These financial statements are presented in Singapore dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency.

2.4 Use of estimates and judgements

 The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with FRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that  
 affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from  
 these estimates. 

 Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which  
 the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

 Measurement of fair values

 A number of the Company’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values, for both financial and non-financial assets  
 and liabilities.

 The management regularly reviews significant unobservable inputs and valuation adjustments. If third party information, such as broker quotes or  
 pricing services, is used to measure fair values, then the valuation team assesses and documents the evidence obtained from the third parties  
 to support the conclusion that these valuations meet the requirements of FRS, including the level in the fair value hierarchy in the valuations  
 should be classified.

 When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company uses observable market data as far as possible. Fair values are categorised  
 into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows:

 Level 1:  quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

 Level 2:  inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly  
   (i.e. derived from prices).

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2020

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2020

2 Basis of preparation (cont’d)
2.4 Use of estimates and judgements (cont’d)

 Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

 If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value  
 measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire  
 measurement (with Level 3 being the lowest).

 The Company recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the end of the reporting period during which the change has  
 occurred.

2.5 Changes in accounting policies

 New standards and amendments

 The Company has applied the following FRSs, amendments to and interpretations of FRSs for the first time for the annual period beginning
 on 1 January 2020:

 • Amendments to References to Conceptual Framework in FRS Standards
 • Definition of a Business (Amendments to FRS 103)
 • Definition of Material (Amendments to FRS 1 and FRS 8) 
 • Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (Amendments to FRS 109 and FRS 107)
 • Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions (Amendment to FRS 116) 

 The Company has early adopted COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions – Amendment to FRS 116 issued on 28 May 2020. The amendment  
 introduces an optional practical expedient for leases in which the Company is a lessee – i.e. for leases to which the Company applies the practical  
 expedient, the Company is not required to assess whether eligible rent concessions that are a direct consequence of the COVID-19 coronavirus  
 pandemic are lease modifications. The Company has applied the amendment retrospectively. The amendment has no impact on retained earnings  
 at 1 January 2020. Details of the accounting policies are set out in note 3.5.

The application of these amendments to standards and interpretations did not have a material effect on the financial statements. 

3 Significant accounting policies
 The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial statements, except as explained in  
 note 2.5, which addresses changes in accounting policies.

3.1 Foreign currency

(i) Foreign currency transactions

 Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency of the Company at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.  
 Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated to the functional currency at the exchange  
 rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between amortised cost in the functional currency at the  
 beginning of the year, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the year, and the amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the  
 exchange rate at the end of the year.

 Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are translated to the functional currency at  
 the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items in a foreign currency that are measured in terms of  
 historical cost are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences arising on translation are  
 recognised in statement of financial activities.

3.2 Financial instruments

(i) Recognition and initial measurement

 Non-derivative financial assets and financial liabilities

 Trade receivables are initially recognised when they are originated. All other financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised when  
 the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2020

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2020

3 Significant accounting policies (cont’d)
3.2 Financial instruments (cont’d) 
(i) Recognition and initial measurement (cont’d) 

 A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) or financial liability is initially measured at fair value  
 plus, for an item not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade  
 receivable without a significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction price.

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement

 Non-derivative financial assets

 On initial recognition, the Company classifies its financial asset into the following measurement categories: amortised cost or FVTPL. The  
 classification depends on the Company’s business model for managing the financial assets as well as the contractual terms of the cash flows of  
 the financial assets.

 Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Company changes its business model for managing financial  
 assets, in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following the change in the business  
 model.

 Financial assets at amortised cost

 A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:

 • it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and
 • its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount  
  outstanding.

 Financial assets at FVTPL

 All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost as described above are measured at FVTPL. On initial recognition, the Company  
 may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost as at FVTPL if doing so  
 eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

 Financial assets: Business model assessment

 The Company makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is held at a portfolio level because this best  
 reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to management. The information considered includes:

 • the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice. These include whether management’s  
  strategy focuses on earning contractual interest income, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial  
  assets to the duration of any related liabilities or expected cash outflows or realising cash flows through the sale of the assets;
 • how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Company’s management;
 • the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business model) and how those risks  
  are managed;
 • how managers of the business are compensated – e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value of the assets managed or the   
  contractual cash flows collected; and
 • the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and expectations about future sales  
  activity.

 Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition are not considered sales for this purpose,  
 consistent with the Company’s continuing recognition of the assets.

 Financial assets that are held-for-trading or are managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis are measured at FVTPL. 

 Non-derivative financial assets: Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest

 For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as  
 consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of  
 time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin.

3 Significant accounting policies (cont’d)
(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement (cont’d)

 In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the Company considers the contractual terms of the  
 instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual  
 cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the Company considers:

 • contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows; 
 • terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable rate features;
 • prepayment and extension features; and
 • terms that limit the Company’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse features).

 A prepayment feature is consistent with the solely payments of principal and interest criterion if the prepayment amount substantially represents  
 unpaid amounts of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, which may include reasonable additional compensation for early   
 termination of the contract. Additionally, for a financial asset acquired at a significant discount or premium to its contractual par amount, a feature  
 that permits or requires prepayment at an amount that substantially represents the contractual par amount plus accrued (but unpaid) contractual  
 interest (which may also include reasonable additional compensation for early termination) is treated as consistent with this criterion if the fair  
 value of the prepayment feature is insignificant at initial recognition.

 Non-derivative financial assets: Subsequent measurement and gains and losses

 Financial assets at FVTPL

 These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including any interest or dividend income, are recognised in  
 statement of financial activities.

 Financial assets at amortised cost

 These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment  
 losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in statement of financial activities. Any gain or loss on  
 derecognition is recognised in statement of financial activities.

 Non-derivative financial liabilities: Classification, subsequent measurement and gains and losses

 Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as held- 
 for-trading or it is designated as such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains and losses,  
 including any interest expense, are recognised in statement of financial activities. Directly attributable transaction costs are recognised in  
 statement of financial activities as incurred.

 Other financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs. They are subsequently measured at  
 amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in statement of  
 financial activities. These financial liabilities comprised trade and other payables.

(iii) Derecognition

 Financial assets

 The Company derecognises a financial asset when:

 • the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire; or
 • it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which either: 

  - substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred; or 
  - the Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the  
   financial asset.

 Transferred assets are not derecognised when the Company enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised in its statement of  
 financial position, but retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets.

 Financial liabilities

 The Company derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or expired. The Company also  
 derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are substantially different, in which case a  
 new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2020

3 Significant accounting policies (cont’d)
(iii) Derecognition (cont’d)

 On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished and the consideration paid (including any non- 
 cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is recognised in statement of financial activities.

(iv) Offsetting

 Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and only when, the  
 Company currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset  
 and settle the liability simultaneously.

(v) Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances.

(vi) Derivative financial instruments

 The Company holds derivative financial instruments to hedge its foreign currency exposures. 

 Derivatives are initially measured at fair value and any directly attributable transaction costs are recognised in statement of financial activities as  
 incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value, and changes therein are generally recognised in statement of  
 financial activities.

 The Company designates certain derivatives financial instruments as hedging instruments in qualifying hedging relationships. At inception of  
 designated hedging relationships, the Company documents the risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge.

3.3 Impairment

(i) Non-derivative financial assets

 The Company recognises loss allowances for expected credit loss (“ECLs”) on financial assets measured at amortised costs.

 Loss allowances of the Company are measured on either of the following bases:

 • 12-month ECLs: these are ECLs that result from default events that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date (or for a  
  shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months); or 

 • Lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument or contract asset.

 Simplified approach

 The Company applies the simplified approach to provide for ECLs for all trade receivables. The simplified approach requires the loss allowance to  
 be measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

 General approach

 The Company applies the general approach to provide for ECLs on all other financial instruments. Under the general approach, the loss allowance  
 is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs at initial recognition.

 At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition.  
 When credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. 

 When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the  
 Company considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both  
 quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Company’s historical experience and informed credit assessment and includes  
 forward-looking information.

 If credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition or if the credit quality of the financial instruments improves such that there is  
 no longer a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs.

3 Significant accounting policies (cont’d)
3.3 Impairment (cont’d)

(i) Non-derivative financial assets (cont’d)

 The Company considers a financial asset to be in default when:

 • the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Company in full, without recourse by the Company to actions such as realising  
  security (if any is held); or
 • the financial asset is more than 180 days past due.

 The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the Company is exposed to credit risk.

 Measurement of ECLs

 ECLs are probability-weighted estimates of credit losses. Credit losses are measured at the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference  
 between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Company expects to receive). ECLs are  
 discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.

 Credit-impaired financial assets

 At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost are credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit- 
 impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

 Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:

 • significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;
 • a breach of contract such as a default or being more than 90 days past due;
 • the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Company on terms that the Company would not consider otherwise;
 • it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or
 • the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

 Presentation of allowance for ECLs in the statement of financial position

 Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost and contract assets are deducted from the gross carrying amount of these  
 assets. 

 Write-off

 The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery.  
 This is generally the case when the Company determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient  
 cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement  
 activities in order to comply with the Company’s procedures for recovery of amounts due.

(ii) Non-financial assets

 The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets, other than inventories, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether  
 there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An impairment loss is  
 recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its related cash-generating unit (“CGU”) exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.

 The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the  
 estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the  
 time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually  
 are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash  
 inflows of other assets or CGUs.

 Impairment losses are recognised in statement of financial activities. 

 Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer  
 exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment   
 loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of  
 depreciation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.
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3 Significant accounting policies (cont’d)
(ii) Non-financial assets (cont’d)

 A reversal of impairment loss for an asset is recognised in statement of financial activities.

3.4 Property, plant and equipment

(i) Recognition and measurement

 Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

 Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets includes:

 • the cost of materials and direct labour; 
 • any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use; 
 • when the Company has an obligation to remove the asset or restore the site, an estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the items  
  and restoring the site on which they are located; and
 • capitalised borrowing costs.

 Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.

 If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major   
 components) of property, plant and equipment.

 The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment (calculated as the difference between the net proceeds from disposal and  
 the carrying amount of the item) is recognised in statement of financial activities.

(ii) Subsequent costs

 The cost of replacing a component of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable  
 that the future economic benefits embodied within the component will flow to the Company, and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying  
 amount of the replaced component is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in  
 statement of financial activities as incurred.

(iii) Depreciation

 Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value. Significant components of individual assets are assessed and if a component  
 has a useful life that is different from the remainder of that asset, that component is depreciated separately.

 Depreciation is recognised as an expense in statement of financial activities on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each  
 component of an item of property, plant and equipment. Freehold land is not depreciated.

 Depreciation is recognised from the date that the property, plant and equipment are installed and are ready for use, or in respect of internally  
 constructed assets, from the date that the asset is completed and ready for use.

 The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative years are as follows:

 • Freehold land   Not depreciated
 • Freehold and leasehold buildings  50 years
 • Furniture, fittings, office computer and clinic equipment  3-10 years
 • Motor vehicles   10 years

 Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted if appropriate.

3.5 Leases

 At inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract  
 conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 

 As a lessee

 At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Company allocates the consideration in the contract to  
 each lease component on the basis of its relative stand-alone prices.

 

3 Significant accounting policies (cont’d)
3.5 Leases (cont’d)

 The Company recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset is initially measured  
 at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus  
 any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the  
 site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.

 The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the end of the lease term,  
 unless the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the Company by the end of the lease term or the cost of the right-of-use asset  
 reflects that the Company will exercise a purchase option. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any,  
 and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

 The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted using  
 the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Company  
 uses the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.

 The Company determines the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate by obtaining interest rates from various external financing sources and makes  
 certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease and type of the asset leased.

 Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

 • fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments; and 
 • lease payments in an optional renewal period if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, and penalties for early  
  termination of a lease unless the Company is reasonably certain not to terminate early.

 The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when there is a change in future lease  
 payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Company’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under  
 a residual value guarantee, if the Company changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option or if  
 there is a revised in-substance fixed lease payment.

 When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is  
 recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

 COVID-19 related rent concessions

 Although the Company early adopted the COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions – Amendment to FRS 116 (see note 2.5), the Company did not  
 receive any rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic in the financial year ended 31 December 2020. 

 Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

 The Company has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-value assets and short-term leases. The  
 Company recognises the lease payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

 As a lessor

 At inception or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Company allocates the consideration in the contract to each  
 lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices.

 When the Company acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an operating lease.

 To classify each lease, the Company makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards  
 incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this is the case, then the lease is a finance lease; if not, then it is an operating lease. As part of  
 this assessment, the Company considers certain indicators such as whether the lease is for the major part of the economic life of the asset.

 When the Company is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for its interests in the head lease and the sub-lease separately. It assesses the lease  
 classification of a sub-lease with reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease, not with reference to the underlying asset. If a  
 head lease is a short-term lease to which the Company applies the exemption described above, then it classifies the sub-lease as an operating  
 lease.
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3 Significant accounting policies (cont’d)
3.5 Leases (cont’d)

 If an arrangement contains lease and non-lease components, then the Company applies FRS 115 to allocate the consideration in the contract.

 The Company applies the derecognition and impairment requirements in FRS 109 to the net investment in the lease (see note 3.3(i)). The  
 Company further regularly reviews estimated unguaranteed residual values used in calculating the gross investment in the lease.

 The Company recognises lease payments received from investment property under operating leases as income on a straight- line basis over the   
 lease term as part of ‘revenue’. Rental income from sub-leased property is recognised as ‘other income’.

3.6 Inventories

 Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is based on the first-in first-out principle, and  
 includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or conversion costs and other costs incurred in bringing them to their  
 existing location and condition.

 Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and estimated costs  
 necessary to make the sale.

3.7 Employee benefits

(i) Defined contribution plans

 A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate entity and will have  
 no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an  
 employee benefit expense in statement of financial activities in the periods during which related services are rendered by employees.

(ii) Short-term employee benefits

 Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability  
 is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus if the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation to  
 pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

3.8 Provisions

 A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably,  
 and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the 
 expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the  
 liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost.

3.9 Income recognition

(i) Goods and services sold 

 Income from sale of goods and services in the ordinary course of business is recognised when the Company satisfies a performance obligation  
 (PO) by transferring control of a promised good or service to the customer. The amount of income recognised is the amount of the transaction  
 price allocated to the satisfied PO.

 The transaction price is allocated to each PO in the contract on the basis of the relative stand-alone selling prices of the promised goods or  
 services. The individual standalone selling price of a good or service that has not previously been sold on a stand-alone basis, or has a highly  
 variable selling price, is determined based on the residual portion of the transaction price after allocating the transaction price to goods and/or  
 services with observable stand-alone selling prices. 

 A discount or variable consideration is allocated to one or more, but not all, of the performance obligations if it relates specifically to those  
 performance obligations.

3 Significant accounting policies (cont’d)
3.9 Income recognition (cont’d)

(i) Goods and services sold (cont’d)

 The transaction price is the amount of consideration in the contract to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring  
 the promised goods or services. The transaction price may be fixed or variable and is adjusted for time value of money if the contract includes a  
 significant financing component. Consideration payable to a customer is deducted from the transaction price if the Company does not receive  
 a separate identifiable benefit from the customer. When consideration is variable, the estimated amount is included in the transaction price to  
 the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal of the cumulative income will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the  
 variable consideration is resolved.

 Income may be recognised at a point in time or over time following the timing of satisfaction of the PO. If a PO is satisfied over time, income is  
 recognised based on the percentage of completion reflecting the progress towards complete satisfaction of that PO.

(ii) Investment income

 Interest income is recognised as it accrues, using the effective interest rate that takes into account the effective yield on the asset. Dividend  
 income from investments is recognised when the Company’s right to receive the dividend is legally established.

 On disposal, the difference between carrying amount and the sale proceeds of financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss is  
 recognised as income in statement of financial activities.

(iii) Donations and corporate cash sponsorships

 Income from donations and corporate cash sponsorships are accounted for when received, except for committed donations and corporate cash  
 sponsorships that are recorded when the commitments are signed. Such income is only deferred when: the donor specifies that the grant or  
 donation must only be used in future accounting periods; or the donor has imposed conditions which must be met before the Company has  
 unconditional entitlement.

3.10 Government grants

 A government grant is recognised at fair value when there is reasonable assurance that the conditions attaching to it will be complied with and  
 that the grant will be received. Grants in recognition of specific expenses is recognised as income over the periods necessary to match them  
 with the related costs that they are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis. A grant related to depreciable assets is allocated to income  
 over the period in which such assets are used in the project subsidised by the grant. A government grant related to assets, including non- 
 monetary grants at fair value, is presented in the statement of financial position by setting up the grant as deferred income.

3.11 Donation in kind

 A donation in kind is initially recognised based on an estimate of the fair value at the date of the receipt of the non-monetary asset and any  
 resulting income should be deferred until all conditions are satisfied. 

3.12 Finance costs

 The Company’s finance costs include interest expense. 

 Interest expense is recognised using the effective interest method.

 The ‘effective interest rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial  
 instrument to the amortised cost of the financial liability.

 In calculating interest expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the amortised cost of the liability.

 Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition of a qualifying asset are recognised in statement of financial activities using the  
 effective interest method.
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3 Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

3.13 Tax

 As a charity, the Company is exempted from tax on income and gains falling within section 13(1)(zm) of the Income Tax Act to the extent that these  
 are applied to its charitable objects.

3.14 New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

 A number of new standards, interpretations and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 January 2020 and  
 earlier application is permitted; however, the Company has not early adopted the new or amended standards and interpretations in preparing  
 these financial statements.

 The following new FRSs, interpretations and amendments to FRSs are not expected to have a significant impact on the Company’s financial  
 statements.

 • FRS 117 Insurance Contracts
 • Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments to FRS 1)
 • Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture (Amendments to FRS 110 and FRS 28)

4 Property, plant and equipment

Cost

At 1 January 2019

Recognition of right-of-use  

 assets on initial application  

 of FRS 116

Adjusted balance at

 1 January 2019

Additions

Transfer to assets

Disposals/Written off

At 31 December 2019

Additions

Disposals/Written off

At 31 December 2020

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2019

Charge for the year

Disposals

At 31 December 2019

Charge for the year

Disposals/Written off

At 31 December 2020

Carrying value

At 1 January 2019

At 31 December 2019

At 31 December 2020

Freehold
land*

$

650,000

–

650,000

–

–

–

650,000

–

–

650,000

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

650,000

650,000

 650,000 

Freehold
building

$

10,671,631

–

10,671,631

16,360

–

–

10,687,991

–

–

10,687,991

5,064,452

245,215

–

5,309,667

 240,812 

–

 5,550,479 

5,607,179

5,378,324

 5,137,512 

Motor
vehicles

$

1,655,815

–

1,655,815

11,088

–

–

1,666,903

–

–

1,666,903

1,359,356

58,748

–

1,418,104

 59,025 

–

 1,477,129 

296,459

248,799

 189,774 

Asset in-
progress

$

436,899

–

436,899

–

(433,899)

(3,000)

–

 46,070

–

46,070

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

436,899

–

 46,070 

Right-of-use 
assets

$

–

4,921,924

4,921,924

229,601

–

(5,165)

5,146,360

–

(665,404)

4,480,956

–

977,613

(2,215)

975,398

 905,967

 (322,468)

 1,558,897 

–

4,170,962

 2,922,059 

Total
$

29,298,000

4,921,924

34,219,924

1,865,638

–

(558,743)

35,526,819

186,404

(1,882,333)

33,830,890

16,248,596

2,518,623

(550,969)

18,216,250

 2,218,169 

 (1,268,772)

 19,165,647

13,049,404

17,310,569

 14,665,243 

 * The freehold land was donated to the Company in 1954.

Leasehold 
building

$

8,365,043

–

8,365,043

402,748

349,712

–

9,117,503

51,900

(712,378)

8,457,025

4,048,247

400,281

–

4,448,528

 416,878 

 (492,412)

 4,372,994 

4,316,796

4,668,975

 4,084,031 

Furniture, 
fittings, office 

computer 
and clinic 
equipment

$

7,518,612

–

7,518,612

1,205,841

84,187

(550,578)

8,258,062

88,434

(504,551)

7,841,945

5,776,541

836,766

(548,754)

6,064,553

 595,487 

 (453,892)

 6,206,148 

1,742,071

2,193,509

 1,635,797 

 Right-of-use assets

 The Company leases assets including premises for clinics and office equipment. The right-of-use assets arising from these leases are presented  
 as part of property, plant and equipment. More information about the leases are in Note 22.
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5 Cash and cash equivalents
     2020 2019
     $ $

 Cash at bank and in hand   4,084,695 1,212,503

 The above balance excludes cash held by fund manager (see note 8).

6 Trade and other receivables
     2020 2019
     $ $

 Trade receivables    1,152,475  1,445,813
 Less: Impairment losses    (15,580) (11,536)
      1,136,895  1,434,277
 Deposits     188,854  211,049
 Grant receivables    508,860  350,722
 Other receivables    297,380  34,421

      2,131,989  2,030,469

   
 The Company’s exposure to credit and currency risks is disclosed in note 25.

 The ageing of trade receivables at the reporting date is:

     2020 2019
     $ $

 Trade receivables
 Current (Not past due)     772,461  913,561
 1 – 30 days past due    174,480  349,843
 31 – 60 days past due    117,002  73,505
 61 – 90 days past due    54,184  72,113
 91 – 180 days past due    9,935  24,160
 More than 180 days past due   24,413  12,631

      1,152,475  1,445,813
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6 Trade and other receivables (cont’d)
 The following table provides information about the Company’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables as at 31 December 2020.

     2020  2019
    Not credit- Credit-  Not credit- Credit-   
    impaired impaired  impaired  impaired
    $ $ $ $

 Current (Not past due)   772,461  – 913,561 –
 1 – 30 days past due   174,480  – 349,843 –
 31 – 60 days past due   116,960  42 73,505 –
 61 – 90 days past due   54,184  – 72,113 –
 91 – 180 days past due   9,935  – 24,160 –
 More than 180 days past due  8,875  15,538 1,095 11,536

 Total gross carrying amount  1,136,895  15,580 1,434,277 11,536

 Loss allowance  – (15,580) – (11,536)

    1,136,895 – 1,434,277 –

 Movements in impairment losses during the financial year are as follows:

     2020 2019
     $ $

 At beginning of the year    11,536 7,412  
 Allowance made during the year  12,399 9,362
 Recovered during the year   (7,594)  (3,141)
 Written off during the year   (761)  (2,097)

 At end of the year    15,580 11,536

7 Inventories
     2020 2019
     $ $

 Drugs and medical supplies  114,205 132,021

 Cost of inventories included in the Statement of Financial Activities
    as clinical, diagnostic imaging and laboratory services expenses 466,525 807,484

8 Investments
     2020 2019
     $ $

 Cash held by fund manager   1,479,669  2,050,619
 Quoted equity investments – mandatorily at FVTPL   18,518,186  17,993,069
 Quoted debt investments – mandatorily at FVTPL   29,146,043  28,936,645
 Forward exchange contracts     470,617  173,996
 Unquoted equity investment     1  1

      49,614,516  49,154,330

 The rate of interest for the cash on interest earning balances of $107,554 (2019: $523,617) ranges from 0.00% to 0.01% (2019: 0.01% to 0.98%)  
 per annum.

 Debt investments at FVTPL have stated interest rates of 2.75% to 4.88% (2019: 1.85% to 4.60%) and mature within 10 years.
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9 Accumulated fund
     2020 2019
     $ $

 Unrestricted accumulated fund  63,275,134 61,128,924

 No. of years reserves coverage of annual operating
    expenditure less investment management fees  2.69  2.36

 There is no restricted fund in accumulated fund. The Company has a reserves policy. The reserves of the Company provide financial stability and  
 the means for the development of the Company’s activities. The Company intends to maintain the reserves at a level sufficient for its operating  
 needs. The directors review the level of reserves regularly for the Company’s continuing obligations.

10 Lease liabilities 
     2020 2019
     $ $

 Lease liabilities   3,026,207 4,185,355

 Non-current    2,280,675 3,329,651
 Current     745,532 855,704

     3,026,207 4,185,355

 Terms and debt repayment schedule 

    Nominal Year of  Face Carrying
    interest rate maturity value amount
    %  $ $

 2020
 Lease liabilities  3.90% to 5.65% 2021 to 2025 3,363,064 3,026,207

 2019
 Lease liabilities  3.90% to 5.65% 2020 to 2025 4,749,498 4,185,355

 Reconciliation of movements of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities

       Lease liabilities
       $

 Balance at 1 January 2019    –
 Recognition of lease liabilities on initial application of FRS 116*    4,813,453

 Adjusted balance at 1 January 2019    4,813,453

 Changes from financing cash flows 
 Payment of lease liabilities     (842,003)
 Interest paid     (249,835)

 Total changes from financing cash flows    (1,091,838)

 Other changes 
 Liability-related 
 Interest expenses     249,835 
 New leases     42,291
 Lease modifications during the year    174,594
 Early lease termination with no penalty    (2,980)

 Total liability-related other changes    463,740

 Balance at 31 December 2019    4,185,355

 * Refer to Note 2.5 for more information.

10 Lease liabilities (cont’d) 
       Lease liabilities
       $

 Balance at 1 January 2020    4,185,355

 Changes from financing cash flows 
 Payment of lease liabilities     (824,161)
 Interest paid     (203,709)

 Total changes from financing cash flows    (1,027,870)

 Other changes 
 Liability-related 
 Interest expenses     203,709
 Early lease termination with no penalty     (334,987)

 Total liability-related other changes    (131,278)

 Balance at 31 December 2020    3,026,207

11 Other liabilities
     2020 2019
     $ $

 At beginning of the year   51,446 93,679
 Add: Capital grant   8,000 –
 Less: Capital grant adjustment   (644) –
 Less: Deferred capital grant amortised  (21,131) (42,233)

 At end of the year   37,671 51,446

 Other liabilities refer to deferred capital grants received from various organisations.

12 Provision for reinstatement cost 
     2020 2019
     $ $

 At beginning of the year   234,094 106,318
 Provision made   6,662 127,776
 Reversal during the year    (77,673) –

 At end of the year   163,083 234,094

 The provision for reinstatement cost is the estimated cost for dismantling, removing and reinstating the clinic premises to its original condition at  
 the end of the lease term as required by the lease agreement. The provision is based on management’s best estimate of the expenditure with  
 reference to past quotations. 
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13 Trade and other payables 
     2020 2019
     $ $

 Payables for clinical, diagnostic imaging and laboratory supplies   1,358,553  1,182,643
 Accrued expenditure    2,408,779  2,684,610
 Deposits received    245,006  245,006
 Government grants received in advance   155,195  178,724

      4,167,533  4,290,983 

14 Donations 
     2020 2019
     $ $

 Tax deductible donations   321,754  19,935
 Non-tax deductible donations  302,175 1,051
 Donation in kind   14,250 –

     638,179  20,986

 Donations received by the Company are not restricted and meant for general allocation to support the homecare programmes. 

15 Grants 
 (a) Job Support Scheme “JSS” is a wage subsidy programme to help employers retain local  employees during the period of uncertainty arising  
  from Covid-19. The Company recognised $2,263,918 (2019: $nil) of JSS support in 2020.

 (b) Besides the JSS, the Company also received the following grants during the year:

     2020 2019
     $ $

  Government grants and credits  1,157,223  266,237
  Government subvention   246,351  448,884
  Reimbursement on government paid leaves  101,576  28,229

      1,505,150  743,350

16 Interest and dividend income
     2020 2019
     $ $

 Interest income from assets at fair value  1,093,792 1,021,738
 Dividend income from assets at fair value  259,544 464,079

     1,353,336 1,485,817

17 Other income 
     2020 2019
     $ $

 Receipt of Charity Governance Award  – 10,000
 Receipt of compensation for employee’s bond termination   – 20,000
 Gains on disposal of plant and equipment  43,537 –
 Membership income   600 700
 Insurance claim   33,696 –
 Sundry income   320 1,160

     78,153 31,860

18 Clinical, diagnostic imaging and laboratory services expenses 
     Note  2020 2019
     $ $

 Clinical, diagnostic imaging and laboratory supplies  1,615,813 2,307,702
 Employee benefits expenses  21 10,328,316  10,533,684
 Depreciation expense   308,323  286,115
 Other expenses   344,406  446,094

     12,596,858  13,573,595 

19 Resources expended for charitable activities – operating expenses 
     Note  2020 2019
     $ $

 Employee benefits expenses  21 2,952,002  3,261,561
 Depreciation expense   181,278  235,033
 Finance cost   1,814  6,106
 Sponsorship   14,250  300
 Subsidised costs   534,149 455,718
 Administrative expenses allocated to charitable activities  1,389,329  1,418,462
 Fund-raising expenses    109,812  3,016 
 Other expenses   516,635  983,760

     5,699,269  6,363,956

20 Administrative expenses
     Note  2020 2019
      $ $

 Employee benefits expenses  21 2,473,564  2,428,704
 Depreciation expense   1,728,568  1,997,475
 Finance cost   208,573  250,318
 IT support and maintenance expense  169,240  563,961
 Other expenses   330,917  740,834
 Loss on disposal of plant and equipment  275,350  1,827

     5,186,212  5,983,119
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21 Employee benefits expenses 
       2020 2019
     $ $

 Short-term employee benefits expenses   13,971,671  14,132,351
 Contributions to defined contribution plan   1,487,622  1,534,964
 Other benefits    294,589  556,634

      15,753,882  16,223,949

22 Leases 
(i) Leases as lessee

 The Company leases its clinics and office equipment. The leases typically run for an average period of three to five years, with an option to renew  
 the lease after that date. Lease payments are renegotiated at the end of the lease to reflect market rentals. For certain leases, the Company is  
 restricted from entering into any sub-lease arrangements.

 Information about leases for which the Company is a lessee is presented below.

 Right-of-use assets recognised in property, plant and equipment (see note 4)

     Premises for  Office 
     clinics  equipment Total
     $ $ $

 Adjusted balance at 1 January 2020  4,121,573 49,389 4,170,962
 Depreciation charge for the year  (892,505)  (13,462)  (905,967) 
 Disposal of right-of-use assets arising from early lease termination  (342,176) (760)  (342,936)

 Balance at 31 December 2020  2,886,892  35,167  2,922,059 

 Adjusted balance at 1 January 2019  4,884,500 37,424 4,921,924
 Depreciation charge for the year  (964,041)  (13,572)  (977,613) 
 Additions of right-of-use assets arising from:   
 - New leases    26,520 28,487 55,007
 - Lease modifications   174,594 – 174,594
 Disposals of right-of-use assets arising from early lease termination – (2,950) (2,950)

 Balance at 31 December 2019  4,121,573 49,389 4,170,962

 Amounts recognised in profit or loss

       2020 2019
     $ $

 Leases under FRS 116      
 Interest on lease liabilities     203,709  249,835
 Depreciation    905,967  977,613

 Amounts recognised in statement of cash flows 

       2020 2019
     $ $

 Total cash outflow for leases – payment of interest and lease liabilities   1,027,870  1,091,838

22 Leases (cont’d) 
(ii) Leases as lessor  

 The Company leases out part of its office premise in the freehold building. All leases are classified as operating leases from a lessor perspective.

 Operating lease

 The Company has classified these leases as operating leases, because they do not transfer substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to  
 the ownership of the assets.

 Rental income from operating lease recognised by the Company during 2020 was $704,392 (2019: $680,928).

 The following table sets out a maturity analysis of lease payments, showing the undiscounted lease payments to be received after the reporting  
 date.

       2020 2019
     $ $

 Operating leases under FRS 116      
 Less than one year     704,392  704,392
 One to two years    704,392  704,392
 Two to three years    704,392  704,392
 Three to four years    528,294  704,392
 Four to five years    –  528,294

 Total     2,641,470  3,345,862

23 Commitments
 Capital commitments

 Estimated amounts committed at the end of the reporting year for future expenditure but not recognised in the financial statements are as follows:

     2020 2019
     $ $

 Commitments to purchase of plant and equipment  10,037 66,557

24 Related parties
 Key management personnel compensation

     2020 2019
     $ $

 Salaries and other short-term employee benefits  1,628,274 1,507,960

 Key management personnel include the chief executive officer and 7 (2019: 9) other senior officers.

 Other related party transactions

 It is not the practice for the trustees/office bearers, or people connected with them, to receive remuneration, or other benefits, from the Company  
 for which they are responsible, or from institutions connected with the Company. 

 There were no related party transactions during the reporting year. 

  Board member compensation

 The board members do not receive any compensation from the Company during the reporting year.
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25 Financial instruments 
 Financial risk management

 Overview

 The Company has exposure to the following risks arising from financial instruments:

 • credit risk
 • liquidity risk
 • market risk

 This note presents information about the Company’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Company’s objectives, policies and processes for  
 measuring and managing risk, and the Company’s management of reserves.

 Risk management framework
 The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Company’s risk management framework. Management  
 is responsible for developing and monitoring the Company’s risk management policies. Management reports regularly to the Board of Directors on  
 its activities.

 Credit risk

 Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual   
 obligations, and arises principally from the Company’s receivables from customers and investment securities.

 The Company has policies in place to ensure that credit risk is mitigated.

 Cash and cash equivalents are placed with financial institutions which are regulated. Impairment on cash and cash equivalents has been  
 measured on the 12-month expected loss basis and reflects the short maturities of the exposures. The Company considers that its cash and cash  
 equivalents have low credit risk based on the external credit ratings of the counterparties. The amount of the allowance on cash and cash  
 equivalents was negligible.

 The Company limits its exposure to credit risk from trade receivables by establishing different credit terms. The average credit period generally  
 granted to customers is about 30 days (2019: 30 days) but some customers take a longer period to settle the amounts. 

 Funds under management classified as FVTPL

 Investment manager is responsible for managing the investments in accordance with the provisions set out in the Company’s Memorandum and  
 Articles of Association and the guidelines set out by the Investment Policy Statement as approved by the Board. The investment guidelines set  
 forth investment objectives and risk parameters including eligible asset classes, minimum credit ratings and risk limits.

 The funds are placed with reputable investment manager appointed by the Company for investment management.

25 Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 Financial risk management (cont’d)

 Credit risk (cont’d) 

 Debt investments

 The Company limits its exposure to credit risk on investments held by investing only in liquid debt securities and only with counterparties that   
 have a credit rating of at least BBB/Baa2 credit rating or above by Standard & Poor’s or Moodys or equivalent, (such as those rated by the  
 independent rating unit of the fund managers). 

 The exposure to credit risk for debt investments at FVTPL (2019: FVTPL) at the reporting date by geographic region was as follows:  

       2020 2019
     $ $

 Singapore      9,771,459  13,928,349
 Australia      2,560,922  2,540,243
 Canada      761,435  –
 China     5,310,742 3,893,549
 Hong Kong     4,338,204 4,996,401
 India      1,258,270  839,202
 Indonesia      1,143,107  –
 Japan      731,167  –
 Malaysia     – 706,381
 Philippines    – 2,032,520
 South Korea    369,291 –
 Thailand     1,069,098 –
 United States of America     882,204 –
 Virgin Islands GB    950,144 –

      29,146,043 28,936,645

 Liquidity risk

 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are settled  
 by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always  
 have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or  
 risking damage to the Company’s reputation.

 The Company monitors its liquidity risk and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by management to finance the  
 Company’s operations and to mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.
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25 Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 Exposure to liquidity risk

 The following are the expected contractual maturities of financial liabilities. The amounts are gross and undiscounted, and include contractual  
 interest payments and exclude the impact of netting agreements:  

      Contractual cash flows   

    Carrying  Within Between  
    amount Total 1 year  1 to 5 years
    $ $ $ $

 At 31 December 2020
 Lease liabilities  3,026,207 3,363,064 894,725 2,468,339
 Trade and other payables  4,167,533 4,167,533 4,167,533 –

    7,193,740 7,530,597 5,062,258 2,468,339 

 At 31 December 2019  
 Lease liabilities  4,185,355 4,749,498 1,064,725 3,684,773
 Trade and other payables  4,290,983 4,290,983 4,290,983 –

    8,476,338 9,040,481 5,355,708 3,684,773

 Market risk

 Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will affect the Company’s  
 income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk  
 exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.

 Foreign currency risk

 Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of financial assets or liabilities will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The Company  
 is exposed to currency risk on other investments and cash and cash equivalent balance that are denominated in a currency other than the functional  
 currencies of the Company. The currencies in which these balances are denominated are the Swiss Franc (CHF), Euro (EUR), Great British Pound  
 (GBP), Hong Kong dollar (HKD), Philippines Peso (PHP), Thai Baht (THB), Taiwan Dollar (TWD), US dollar (USD) and Japanese Yen (YEN). 

 The Company’s exposure to foreign currencies is as follows:

       2020 2019
 Financial assets at FVTPL  $ $

 CHF      763,203  499,868
 EUR      425,299  620,082
 GBP      532,395  54
 HKD      1,952,023  1,730,768
 PHP     – 287,232
 THB     – 458,411
 TWD     – 520,180
 USD      28,048,106  21,232,590
 YEN      1,000,417  607,653

      32,721,443 25,956,838
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25 Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 Sensitivity analysis – foreign currency risk

 A 10% strengthening of the following currencies against the Singapore dollar at the reporting date would have increased/(decreased) the Company’s  
 net surplus or deficit by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. 

       2020 2019
     $ $

 CHF      76,320  49,987
 EUR      42,530  62,008
 GBP      53,240  5
 HKD      195,202  173,077
 PHP     – 28,723
 THB     – 45,841
 TWD     – 52,018
 USD      2,804,811  2,123,259
 YEN       100,042  60,765

 A 10% weakening of the above currencies against the Singapore dollar at the reporting date would have had the equal but opposite effect to the  
 amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.

 Interest rate risk

 Exposure to interest rate risk

 At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the Company’s interest-bearing financial instruments as reported to management was as follows:

       2020 2018
     $ $

 Fixed rate instruments   
 Financial assets    29,146,043 28,936,645

 Variable rate instruments   
 Financial assets    107,554 523,617

 Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments

 The Company does not account for any fixed rate financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Therefore, in respect of the fixed rate  
 instrument, a change in interest rates at the reporting date would not affect statement of financial activities.. 

 Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

 A change of 10 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/(decreased) the Company’s net surplus or deficit by the  
 amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant.

       10 bp 10 bp
       increase decrease
     $ $

 31 December 2020
 Variable rate instruments     10,755  (10,755)

 Cash flow sensitivity     10,755  (10,755)

 31 December 2019
 Variable rate instruments    52,362 (52,362)

 Cash flow sensitivity    52,362 (52,362)
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25 Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 Equity price risk

 Equity price risk is the risk the fair value or future cash flows of the Company’s investments will fluctuate because of the changes in market prices  
 (other than interest or exchange rates). The Company is exposed to equity price risk arising from its financial assets at FVTPL.

 Sensitivity analysis - equity price risk

 The Company’s equity securities are mainly listed on the stock exchanges in Singapore and the United States of America.

        Carrying amount
      2020 2018
     $ $

 Equity investments - mandatorily at FVTPL    18,518,186 17,993,069

 As at 31 December 2020, if the price for the equity securities increased by 10% with all other variable including tax rate being held constant, the  
 increase in the Company’s net surplus or deficit will result in an increase of $1,851,819 (2019: $1,799,307). A similar 10% decrease in prices  
 would have an equal opposite effect to the amount above.

 Accounting classifications and fair values

 The carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and liabilities, including their levels in the fair value hierarchy are as follows. It does not  
 include fair value information for financial assets and financial liabilities not measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a reasonable  
 approximation of fair value. The fair value disclosure of lease liabilities is also not required. 

25 Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 Accounting classifications and fair values (cont’d) 

Level 1 
$

49,614,514

Level 2 
$

–

Level 3 
$

1

Total 
$

49,614,514

31 December 2020
   Financial assets    
   measured at fair value
Financial investments –    
   mandatorily at FVTPL 

Financial assets not   
   measured at fair value
Trade and other   
   receivables
Cash and cash  
   equivalents

Financial liabilities not     
   measured at fair value
Lease liabilities  
Trade and other payables*

FVTPL – 
financial 
assets

$

49,614,515

–

–

–

–
–

–

Amortised 
cost

$

–

2,131,989

4,084,695

6,216,684

–
–

–

Other 
financial
liabilities 

$

–

–

–

–

3,026,207
4,012,338

7,038,545

Total 
$

49,614,515

2,131,989

4,084,695

6,216,684

3,026,207
4,012,338

7,038,545

Note

8

6

5

10
13

* Excluding grants received in advance

Carrying amount Fair value

Level 1 
$

49,154,329

Level 2 
$

–

Level 3 
$

1

Total 
$

49,154,330

31 December 2019
   Financial assets    
   measured at fair value
Financial investments –    
   mandatorily at FVTPL 

Financial assets not   
   measured at fair value
Trade and other   
   receivables
Cash and cash  
   equivalents

Financial liabilities not     
   measured at fair value
Lease liabilities  
Trade and other payables*

FVTPL – 
financial 
assets

$

49,154,330

–

–

–

–
–

–

Amortised 
cost

$

–

2,030,469

1,212,503

3,242,972

–
–

–

Other 
financial
liabilities 

$

–

–

–

–

4,185,355
4,112,259

8,297,614

Total 
$

49,154,330

2,030,469

1,212,503

3,242,972

4,185,355
4,112,259

8,297,614

Note

8

6

5

10
13

* Excluding grants received in advance

Carrying amount Fair value
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